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New Focus, New Look
In 2003-2004, Telefilm Canada adopted
a new look to underscore its role in helping
Canadian cultural products strike a chord
with audiences, which is reflected in this
annual report. 
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Montréal, July 19, 2004

The Honourable Liza Frulla

Minister of Canadian Heritage

Ottawa, Canada

Dear Madam:

In accordance with the provisions of Section 23 of the

Telefilm Canada Act, I have the honour of presenting you,

on behalf of the Board of Directors, with Telefilm Canada’s

36th annual report and the Corporation’s financial

statements for the year ended March 31, 2004.

Yours very truly,

The Chair,

Charles Bélanger

Letter to the Minister
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In March 2004, when Denys Arcand won the Best Foreign-
Language Film Oscar for Les Invasions barbares (The Barbarian
Invasions), Canadian culture as a whole was honoured.
Reflecting the filmmaker’s unique vision, the film raises a number
of challenging and relevant questions about family, friendship,
today’s world and the meaning of life. The recipient of some 
40 international awards and nominations, this masterpiece by
the Montréal director has moved and thrilled audiences around
the world.

Every country expresses the essence of its being through
its culture, and a country’s creators and artists are its best
ambassadors. Denys Arcand’s film is connected by an invisible,
but robust, thread to everything that constitutes our country’s
history and heritage. Our culture represents who we were, who
we are and where we are going as a society. It is a valuable and
indispensable mirror, one that the government of Canada
vigorously supports through Telefilm Canada.

Canada’s feature film policy, which many deemed to be
overly ambitious when launched in October 2000, proves to be
visionary. However, in Canada, as elsewhere, success is not
something that can simply be invented. It must be nurtured and
developed, but only if the talent upon which it depends is sup-
ported by enlightened and flexible policies, adequate financial
resources, and a wide diversity of public and private financial
partnerships.

Innovation and creativity drive our cultural industries – the
foundation of Canada’s knowledge economy. The sustainability
of the industry is highly challenged as a result of the collapse
of international television production financing combined with
softening demand at home. Our country cannot afford to fall
behind the rest of the world in this key knowledge sector.
Lauded on the international stage and employing a large work-
force of highly skilled personnel, Canada’s cultural industries
are of strategic importance to the domestic economy. In this
light, Telefilm’s role is to continue to ensure that competitive
Canadian companies have the best chance of success.

A Committed Board of Directors
Since 2002, the members of the Board have identified three
key objectives to be achieved in tandem with the Corporation’s
management team:

� to build audiences
� to help the industry achieve its full potential; and
� to make Telefilm an exemplary organization.

Our corporate plan is based on these objectives and is
updated every year.

As we pursue these objectives we strive to integrate the
notion of cultural diversity into our daily activities, including the
implementation of such vital programs as our contribution to
the Spark Initiative, which is aimed at members of culturally
diverse and Aboriginal communities.

We also endeavour to link Telefilm with all other audiovisual
industry organizations responsible for implementing public policy.
We are working hard to strengthen our ties with the Canadian
Television Fund, the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation, the
National Film Board, and the Canadian Radio-television and
Telecommunications Commission. More and more, everyone
acknowledges that a link must be forged between the creator,
the method of production and broadcasting, and the general
public.

To accomplish our goals will require a revision of the
Telefilm Canada Act. Telefilm’s Board and management
acknowledge that the government has recognized the impor-
tance of modernizing our legislative framework and financial
mechanisms. Telefilm would like to operate from a new, long-
term financial platform, which would allow the Corporation to
act in a more flexible, rigorous and efficient manner.

Message from the Chair
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The Lincoln Report clearly identified the governance prob-
lems affecting the Canadian Television Fund, with whom Telefilm
is a partner, and the government responded by stating that it
wished to put in place a single Board and a single manage-
ment structure. Telefilm supports this approach. However, we
must ensure that existing public and private financial resources
destined for television be maintained, and that building new audi-
ences remains as the principal performance indicator for these
financial resources.

Making Notable Progress
Telefilm provides the government with valuable expertise in
public policy and practical knowledge of the audiovisual land-
scape, in Canada and on the international scene.

Telefilm’s Board works to ensure that the Corporation
achieves the best possible return on investment. Administering
$244 million is a responsibility for which we are fully accountable.
The activities of a public agency like Telefilm must provide added
value for the government and the Canadian public in general.
Balance, openness and fairness are permanent requirements.

The Corporation’s Board of Directors is very pleased with
the progress achieved this year. Telefilm is a more transparent
and more efficient organization, and a more customer-focused
entity, as evidenced, among other things, by the client service
charter and the online business services we launched in
December 2003. The new project management system
ensures that initiatives tied to the corporate plan are clearly
identified and efficiently managed. In addition, we welcomed
the report by Telefilm’s internal auditors, the firm of 
Samson Bélair/Deloitte & Touche. Notable progress was made
in the areas of coproduction, financial management, project
evaluation, information systems, computer security and new
media. Action plans were put in place, or corrective measures
taken, for sectors that did not perform as well.

The organization’s new structure reflects the asymmetry of
the English and French markets, with an operations division for
each sector. Policies and strategies are based on consultation,
statistical data and solid research. We also have a talent for
innovation, as you’ll see in this annual report.

Taking Important Steps in the Area of Cultural Diversity
Our country is becoming increasingly multicultural – a reality
that is not being fully reflected in our films and television pro-
grams. To make room for new voices, and different voices, we
must ensure that policies, programs and services meet the
needs and realities of these voices.

Our model is the Interdepartmental Partnership with the
Official-Language Communities (IPOLC). Through immersion
programs, training workshops and envelopes for the develop-
ment of dramas, the IPOLC has made it possible for French-
speaking producers from Moncton to Vancouver to better 
represent the reality of their communities through the medium
of television.

Building on the success of its contribution to this program,
Telefilm participated in the creation of the Spark Initiative, a
three-year program aimed at talented, mid-career producers
from culturally diverse and Aboriginal communities. 

The component administered by Telefilm, the Spark Plug
Program, allocates funds for professional development, project
development, audience development and participation in the
Banff Television Festival. In March 2004, we were delighted to
announce the first 15 recipients of the Spark Plug! And we
were also elated to receive the first award of excellence from
the Canadian Diversity Producer’s Association this year in Banff.

In closing, I would like to thank the members of the Board for
their dedicated and conscientious contribution to Telefilm’s cor-
porate plan. The Audit and Finance Committee and the Cultural
and Linguistic Diversity Committee did a marvellous job.

Trina McQueen and Fil Fraser joined the Board this year. 
We are indeed privileged to be able to count on the experience
and vision of these two remarkable individuals.

My thanks go as well to Richard Stursberg and the entire
Telefilm team for a year of exceptional achievements. I would
also like to express my admiration for the film, television, new
media and music industries, whose creators do so much to
enrich our lives with works of quality and imagination.

Charles Bélanger
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When we developed our corporate plan in 2002, Building
Audiences for Canadian Cultural Products, we wanted to
accomplish the following over the next five years: finance
audiovisual productions that are distinctively Canadian and
popular with audiences, help the industry attain long-term sus-
tainability and modernize Telefilm Canada itself. This report
captures the progress we made in delivering on these goals in
the last year.

Building Audiences
We are beginning to see the results of our new audience ori-
entation reflected in how well Canadian films are performing at
the box office; the market share of Canadian films doubled in
20031 from where it was two years ago.

Noteworthy examples include Les Invasions barbares,
which won an Oscar® for Best Foreign-Language Film of 
2004, Les Triplettes de Belleville (The Triplets of Belleville)
which received two Oscar® nominations, and Mambo Italiano,
which became the most successful English-language feature
in 20 years. One of the most remarkable success stories in
2003-2004 was certainly French-language cinema, which has
done extraordinarily well – claiming an unprecedented 19%
domestic market share.

This year’s progress underlines Telefilm’s successful part-
nership with the industry; together, we account for 96% of the
box office earnings of Canadian films screened in 2003.

In television, our greatest accomplishment has been to help
reorient the Canadian Television Fund towards a long-term
audience strategy. There was also some innovative Canadian
television made in the last year. Fortier and Les Bougon – 
C’est aussi ça la vie ! were huge hits with Quebec audiences,
and Trailer Park Boys and Degrassi: The Next Generation
were very successful in English Canada.

Our financing of interactive digital productions is taking
place at a time when media choices are increasing and the role
of the Internet is growing. Despite critical successes, such as 
In Vivo and deafplanet.com, the growth of this industry is directly
linked to a significant increase in resources for it to compete.
In the meantime, we have reoriented the Canada New Media
Fund to finance the productions that have the best chances of
reaching audiences.

MESSAGE FROM

Creating a Sustainable Industry
We set out in 2003-2004 to help the Canadian audiovisual
industry become more focused on long-term sustainability.
Healthy companies that can attract private financing, and that
have access to new talent, have the best chance of making
productions that are a hit with audiences everywhere.

These last 12 months have been challenging. In this report,
we provide a look at the financing arrangements of the audiovi-
sual productions we support. We note that the Canadian indus-
try faces a slowing of growth, in large part because of the pop-
ularity of domestic television programming in other countries.

Obviously, the task at hand involves many players and a
series of linked initiatives to create the healthy and creative
environment that we seek for the industry. For our part, we will
be tackling the challenge in three ways: by helping Canadian
productions more effectively access international financing, by
helping to identify a long-term plan for skills development, and
by helping companies improve their bottom line through
increased retention of producer fees, corporate overhead and
recoupment.

The impact of these strategies will be felt over time. 
Our continuing goal must be a vibrant and financially successful
industry.

1. Audiences in feature film are measured on a calendar year basis to allow for benchmarking against other countries.

Message from the Executive Director
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Building a Modern Telefilm
We are particularly proud of the work we have done in moving
towards a more contemporary Telefilm. Our efforts have cen-
tred on better client service. We said that we would deliver a
client service charter – and we did. We have developed clearer
service standards, standardized decision-making processes
and improved risk management. All this has made us better
focused on financing the best projects more quickly. And we
are on our way to becoming a leader in service delivery.

One of the biggest challenges that remains, and that will be
a key priority for the coming year, is the modernization of the
Telefilm Canada Act. The government has already indicated
the importance of this initiative and we look forward to its
implementation.

The public money entrusted to us by the government – which
we invest in the production and promotion of Canadian cinema,
television, new media and music – leveraged almost $1 billion of
economic activity in the industry last year. This activity makes the
Canadian audiovisual industry stronger and an important contrib-
utor to the federal government’s policy priorities.

In closing, I want to take this opportunity to thank the 
Board of Directors for their guidance and direction, the 
employees of Telefilm for their dedication and outstanding
job, and the industry for their dynamic partnership.

Richard Stursberg
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New Projects Amendments to Previous-Year Contracts Total
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

Canadian Television Fund
Equity Investment Program
Production 103,794 ( 377 ) 103,417
Development 7,997 1,232 9,229
Distribution 936 – 936
Versioning 1,113 – 1,113
Total 113,839 856 114,695

Canada Feature Film Fund
Development, Production and Marketing Programs
Production 59,535 2,046 61,581
Development 4,994 1,237 6,230
Marketing (disbursements) 9,948 3,419 13,366
Official coproductions (mini-treaties) 820 ( 59 ) 761
Subtotal 75,297 6,642 81,939

Complementary Activities 6,218 536 6,754
Screenwriting Assistance Program 1,220 ( 19 ) 1,201
Low Budget Independent Feature Film Assistance Program 1,549 – 1,549
Total 84,283 7,160 91,443

Canada New Media Fund
Product Assistance 8,870 ( 257 ) 8,613
Distribution Assistance 100 – 100
Sectoral Assistance 771 – 771
Total 9,741 ( 257 ) 9,484

Canada Music Fund
Music Entrepreneur Program (disbursements)
Support for the development of business plans – 37 37
Support for the implementation of business plans 8,691 – 8,691
Total 8,691 37 8,728

Production Revenue Sharing Program – ( 10 ) ( 10 )

Official Coproductions – mini-treaties (television) 334 ( 46 ) 288

Versioning (television) – ( 118 ) ( 118 )

Other funds and programs
Regular Fund 204 ( 14 ) 189
International Marketing – ( 3 ) ( 3 )
Market Participation (television) 696 – 696
Commercial Fund – ( 20 ) ( 20 )
Grants to Canadian Festivals (television) 178 112 290
Industrial and Professional Development 503 ( 74 ) 430
National Training Program in the Film and Video Sector 2,320 – 2,320
Other forms of support 406 – 406
Total 4,306 1 4,306

Administrative expenses – – 22,857

Total 221,194 7,623 251,673

Note: Results of additions do not always correspond to totals due to rounding.

Telefilm Canada’s Financial Participation  2003-2004 Signed Contracts
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Industry Events

Hollywood North Launch, Montréal, August 28, 2003
A special evening was held to reunite Telefilm’s present and former Chairs
and Executive Directors, in conjunction with the national launch of Hollywood
North: Creating the Canadian Motion Picture Industry by Michael Spencer,
the Corporation’s first Executive Director, with Suzan Ayscough.

From left to right: Harvey Corn, François Macerola, Robert Dinan, 
Michel Vennat, Michael Spencer, David Silcox, Richard Stursberg, 
Pierre DesRoches, Michèle Fortin and Charles Bélanger.

Canadian Front: New Films, New York City, March 4, 2004
The Museum of Modern Art, in partnership with Telefilm, inaugurated the first
annual showcase of Canadian cinema. The eight-film program, curated by
MoMA’s Laurence Kardish, opened to a packed house at the Gramercy Theatre
with Guy Maddin’s The Saddest Music in the World, which was a sneak 
preview leading up to the film’s theatrical release by IFC Films in the U.S.

Jonathan Sehring, President, IFC Entertainment; Guy Maddin, director; 
Niv Fichman, producer and founding partner of Rhombus Media; 
Pamela Wallin, Canada’s Consul General in New York; and 
Richard Stursberg, past Executive Director, Telefilm Canada.

Special Screening of The Blue Butterfly, Ottawa, February 10, 2004
Marc Donato, actor; The Honourable Hélène Chalifour Scherrer, past Minister
of Canadian Heritage; Pascale Bussières, actor; Léa Pool, director; Patrick Roy,
Vice-President, Alliance Atlantis Vivafilm; Georges Brossard, founder of the
Montréal Insectarium; Richard Stursberg; and Francine Allaire, producer, Galafilm.

Industry Luncheon at the NSI FilmExchange, Winnipeg, March 4, 2004
Charles Bélanger speaks to the importance of developing Canadian talent. 
On his left, Jamie Brown, CEO and Executive Producer, Frantic Films, 
and Chair, Manitoba Motion Picture Industry Association, and on his right,
Nicholas Hirst, Editor of the Winnipeg Free Press.

Special Screening of The Barbarian Invasions, Ottawa, May 6, 2003
Director Denys Arcand autographs a poster during the Ottawa screening of
his tour de force The Barbarian Invasions – the most honoured Canadian
film in history including the Oscar® for Best Foreign-Language Film. 
The evening, in the presence of Her Excellency Adrienne Clarkson, Governor
General of Canada, was a fitting tribute to the success of Canadian cinema.

Telefilm’s Reception at the 27th World Film Festival, Montréal, 
August 28, 2003
Directors Louis Bélanger (Gaz Bar Blues, Post Mortem) and Charles Binamé
(H20: The Last Prime Minister, Séraphin, Un homme et son péché) with
Charles Bélanger, Chair, Telefilm Canada.



2003-2004 Annual Report

13

P R O F I L E :  A  C U LT U R A L  I N V E STO R

Telefilm Canada is an instrument of government policy with the
role of supporting Canada’s feature film, television, new media
and music industries to create works that reflect the diversity of
Canada, and that are widely appreciated by Canadian audiences.

Through four Canadian offices in Vancouver, Toronto,
Montréal and Halifax and a European bureau in Paris, Telefilm
fulfils its role primarily as an equity investor in individual projects.
Revenues from investments are reinvested in new productions,
allowing for new voices to be supported and new stories to 
be told.

Telefilm attempts to finance the highest quality works that
have the best chance of reaching Canadian audiences while at
the same time fostering the long-term sustainability of the
Canadian industry.

Telefilm is a Crown Corporation reporting to Parliament
through the Minister of Canadian Heritage. Its activities are
administered according to the protocols and contribution agree-
ments that it has signed over the years with the Department.

With an annual budget totalling $244 million, the major share
of Telefilm’s resources are committed through four core initia-
tives. They are: the Canada Feature Film Fund; the Canadian
Television Fund, in partnership with the industry; the Canada
New Media Fund; and the Music Entrepreneur Program of the
Canada Music Fund.

Through its Funds, Telefilm ensures that industry players of
all sizes contribute to the expression and promotion of
Canadian culture, whether they are small- and medium-sized
businesses (SMBs), publicly traded companies or vertically
integrated conglomerates. Nearly 1,000 clients, primarily
SMBs, receive support each year, ensuring diversity, creating
jobs and making a substantial contribution to building Canadian
audiences.

Telefilm’s success regarding audiences depends to a large
extent on its own performance. Standardized and transparent
business processes and procedures, advanced information
systems, an empowered workforce, and performance evalua-
tion and accountability are all fundamental elements of its busi-
ness activity.

Mission
Telefilm Canada is a cultural investor committed to supporting
Canada’s audiovisual industry to create cultural works that
reflect and celebrate the diversity of Canada and are widely
appreciated in Canada and abroad. Through its investments
Telefilm encourages excellence while creating a portfolio of
projects that reflect a diversity of format, budget, genre, content
and talent.

Vision
Telefilm Canada’s vision is to support the development, produc-
tion, promotion and distribution of popular Canadian television
programs, films and new media products that are enjoyed by
the largest number of Canadian and international audiences.

Telefilm believes that the extent to which Canadians watch
and use the products it helps finance is the key measure of
success in meeting its mandate. A secondary measure of suc-
cess is a strong and vibrant industry capable of developing, pro-
ducing, distributing and exhibiting the works that it helps to
finance.

Values
As a public sector agency and a partner to the industry, Telefilm
Canada upholds six core values:

� celebrate the telling of unique Canadian stories;
� actively champion a sustainable Canadian audiovisual 

culture;
� reward performance and encourage new thinking;
� be open, transparent and accessible to stakeholders, 

the industry and the public;
� deliver best value to Parliament and to the Canadian 

public; and
� promote diversity in all its forms in programs and policies.

TELEFILM CANADA AT A GLANCE
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Principal Activities
Through its programs, Telefilm serves four sectors of the audio-
visual industries: feature film, television, new media and music.

Telefilm Canada provides a wide variety of support in the four
sectors it serves, by way of financial assistance to production,
versioning, distribution, marketing, professional development,
support for Canadian festivals, and participation at international
festivals and markets.

Telefilm’s financial participation is provided in various forms:
investments, advances, loans, loan guarantees, grants, corpo-
rate envelopes and more. The majority of its activities centre on
investments in individual projects based on a rigorous selection
process. As an investor, the Corporation shares the risks and
eventual revenues of the productions it participates in financially.

Partnering for Success on the International Scene
In order to help establish an environment in which sustainable
companies and gifted talent can thrive, Telefilm Canada is also
an active player in the worldwide market – from promoting
Canadian films at major festivals to stimulating new coproduction
partnerships through, most notably, its European Immersions
and Joint Commissions.

To date, Canada has signed 49 official international agree-
ments covering more than 50 countries; coproductions play a
pivotal role in the development of Canada’s film and television
industry. A total of 95 official coproductions, which received
advanced ruling from Telefilm, were produced in 2003, with
production budgets totalling $677 million.

Preparing for the Future
By way of programs specifically designed for emerging talent
and underrepresented communities, Telefilm is a catalyst for
talent. Its support has made it possible for thousands of
Canadian screenwriters, directors, producers, distributors, tech-
nicians, performers and new media creators to pursue careers
in Canada, working in their region and in the official language
of their choice.

Rémy, a divorced history professor in his early 50s, is hospitalized with
terminal cancer – thus curtailing his hedonism of earlier days. His ex-wife
Louise asks their son Sébastien to come home from London. Sébastien
hesitates; after all, he and his father haven’t been close in years. Friends and
lovers also stop by Rémy’s bedside to offer their support, settle their
accounts… and reflect on their own lives.

The Barbarian Invasions, set 17 years after director Denys Arcand’s 
1986 masterpiece The Decline of the American Empire, is a cinematic
bookend that lives up to the reputation of its predecessor. Arcand’s dra-
matic comedy went to 25 festivals and received over 40 prizes and nomi-
nations, along with the Academy Award® for Best Foreign-Language
Film – the first Canadian entry to win in this category. Miramax distributed
the film across the U.S., while home-turf grosses reached $7.3 million.

Les Invasions barbares (The Barbarian Invasions)
Cinémaginaire inc. and Pyramide Productions



Objective #1

Building Audiences for
Canadian Cultural Products
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Telefilm Canada’s goal of attracting larger audiences has 
represented a fundamental shift for both the industry and the
Corporation. This change in direction has meant that more
attention is being given to making a wider variety of high-quality
products that appeal to audiences, and less on encouraging a
greater volume of production. In 2003-2004, Telefilm continued
to move closer to its objective of building audiences for
Canadian cultural products – especially for Canadian cinema.

Operational Review: Business Activities

C A N A D A  F E AT U R E  F I L M  F U N D

In 2000, the federal government announced a new policy
for Canadian feature film, entitled From Script to Screen.
The main objective is to achieve 5% of the domestic box office
for Canadian cinema by 2006 by strengthening production and
distribution.

Two other objectives, within the new feature film policy for
reaching larger audiences, are to increase average production
budgets to $5 million and the average size of marketing 
budgets to $500,000.

The primary instrument to achieve these objectives is the
Canada Feature Film Fund (CFFF) administered by Telefilm
Canada, which provides assistance for screenwriting, project
development, production, marketing and complementary activi-
ties. To meet its goals, the Fund has resources of approximately
$80 million annually, which are invested in productions most
likely to reach Canadian audiences.

Because the Fund is focused on increasing the domestic
market share of Canadian films, it must acknowledge the dis-
tinctive challenges and opportunities presented by Canada’s
two linguistic markets. Telefilm therefore pursues an asymme-
trical approach to the Canadian feature film market with different
operational strategies for the French- and English-language
markets.

Staying on Target
Overall, in 2003-2004, Telefilm continued on course with its
feature film initiatives implemented in the previous fiscal year,
most notably to finance a broader range of high-quality pro-
ductions, to insist on better releases, and to encourage more
effective marketing for all features, including hard commitments
from distributors for minimum P&A (print and advertising).

Due to its overwhelming success in 2003-2004, the
Corporation made very few changes to its approach for the
French-language market. The general feeling is “if it ain’t broke,
don’t fix it.”

Telefilm did, however, completely redesign its development
financing, primarily for the English-language market, to allow
the creative process to be more sensitive to market opportuni-
ties. The changes will allow a longer development period, and
the involvement of directors and distributors at an earlier stage.
A new “green-light” development stage, for projects that have
received a production commitment from Telefilm, will allow pro-
ducers to complete the final key stages of financing and cast-
ing without having to begin production prematurely due to
cash-flow constraints.

OBJECTIVE BUILDING AUDIENCES
#1 FOR CANADIAN CULTURAL PRODUCTS

Love triangles, broken hearts, deceit and popularity are among the 
surprises that await students this year at Degrassi Community School.
Season three of the international award-winning series Degrassi: 
The Next Generation returned to a new primetime slot in 2003-2004.

Degrassi: The Next Generation has won over a dozen awards since 
its Canadian launch in 2001. It’s American debut was a success, 
leading to even more awards, including the 2004 Best Family Television
Series at the 25th Young Artists Awards in California and the 2003 Award
of Excellence (Alliance for Children and Television). Fans frequent the
award-winning companion site, www.degrassi.tv, recipient of the Gemini
for Most Popular Web Site.

Degrassi: The Next Generation
Epitome Pictures Inc.
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C A N A D I A N  T E L E V I S I O N  F U N D

The Department of Canadian Heritage, the Cable Production Fund
(a creation of the Canadian cable industry) and Telefilm Canada
joined forces in 1996 to create the Canadian Television Fund
(CTF). The Canadian Television Fund is a private-public initiative
with an annual budget of $234 million. Telefilm shares respon-
sibility for administering the Canadian Television Fund with the
Canadian Television Fund Corporation.

Rethinking Canadian Television
Canadian television has been the subject of much discussion in
2003-2004, and will continue to be so as the federal govern-
ment rethinks its policy direction.

At the beginning of 2003-2004, the Canadian Television
Fund experienced some difficulty with its funding decisions.
The problems arose because of incompatible decision-making
systems between the Equity Investment Program (EIP) and the
License Fee Program. As a result, both Programs set out to
build new working arrangements to more effectively coordinate
their funding decisions.

Additionally, in the English-language market, the challenge
continues to be to produce programming that Canadians want
to watch. This is especially true of English-language drama,
where programs rarely rank among the top 20 shows in
Canada. By contrast, French-language broadcasters have been
very successful in generating audiences for home-grown pro-
ductions, which consistently dominate the top program lists.

Three major reports on this issue have been released and
are being examined by the government. The CRTC and Telefilm
jointly commissioned two studies in 2002 examining the state
of English- and French-language drama in Canada. The results
were published in Dramatic Choices by Trina McQueen, who is
now a Telefilm Board member, and in What About Tomorrow?
by Guy Fournier.

Likewise, the Standing Committee on Canadian Heritage’s
review of Canadian broadcasting culminated in an extensive
report in June of 2003, Our Cultural Sovereignty: The Second
Century of Canadian Broadcasting, to which the government
issued its Response. Both the study and the Response argued
that the Canadian Television Fund should be focused on
attracting Canadian audiences to Canadian programming.

Focusing on Audience Success: 
A New Direction for the Fund
Against this backdrop, Telefilm was a key participant in making
fundamental changes to the design of the Canadian Television
Fund, most markedly shifting towards an audience objective
and away from its previous focus on volume of hours funded.

Historically, the CTF has measured success in this sector in
terms of the volume of production supported. In light of the dif-
ficulty of the English market to connect with television viewers,
a new perspective was needed to prioritize support to projects
with audience potential.

While the CTF’s guidelines for 2004-2005 reflect this
move, the Fund’s basic eligibility criteria and the types of eligi-
ble programming have not changed.

Establishing a More Streamlined Administration
Telefilm Canada and the Canadian Television Fund Corporation
will continue to jointly administer CTF funds, although each
agency will have sole responsibility for specific funding streams.

The overhauled CTF consists of three streams of support: a
Broadcaster Performance Envelope Stream, administered by
the Canadian Television Corporation, and an English-language
Drama Stream and a Special Initiatives Stream managed by
Telefilm Canada. The Special Initiatives component provides
support for development, versioning, Aboriginal-language pro-
duction, French-language production outside Quebec, special
initiatives for English-language drama, and feature film produc-
tions with a broadcast window.

These changes have considerably simplified the application
process, since producers now need only apply at one location,
depending on their language group and genre of programming. 
There will also be increased predictability for applicants because
the introduction of envelopes has meant that broadcasters are
aware of the level of funding available to them in order to green
light key projects beforehand. The full benefit of these changes
will be in place for the 2005-2006 application season following
amendments to the CTF contribution agreements.

The Next Step: Setting a Target
The development of performance indicators has been a pri-
ority as audience measurement has been incorporated into the
calculation and assessment of CTF funding decisions for the
2004-2005 guidelines. Within the English drama component
administered by Telefilm, broadcaster track record2 and mar-
keting plans were bolstered as central decision-making criteria.

2. Broadcaster track record reflects the degree to which broadcasting outlets had achieved audiences for their CTF-funded drama programs 
during the broadcast year from Sept 1, 2002 to August 31, 2003, the most recent full broadcast year of audience data available.
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C A N A D A  N E W  M E D I A  F U N D

The Canada New Media Fund (CNMF) is one of a number of
funds created to meet the objectives of the Canadian Culture
Online Program of the Department of Canadian Heritage. 
The main objectives of the CNMF are to encourage the devel-
opment, production, marketing and distribution of high-quality,
original, interactive digital entertainment products, in both offi-
cial languages, and to assist in the growth and development of
a Canadian new media production industry that is competitive
in international markets.

A survey of its new media clients, contracted by Telefilm in
2003, found that despite the production of innovative and com-
pelling Canadian content for both online and offline platforms,
producers had difficulty attracting audiences. After consulta-
tions with the industry, Telefilm implemented a number of initia-
tives, including reorienting the Fund’s 2003-2004 guidelines
towards a greater focus on reaching audiences.

Better Tracking of Online Audiences
The challenge to measuring Canadian audiences for Canadian
new media productions is that there is currently no agreed-
upon impartial audience measurement system for low-volume,
emergent Canadian cultural online content. In 2003-2004,
Telefilm Canada purchased available market intelligence to
learn more about what Canadians are doing online and collab-
orated with the Department of Canadian Heritage and other
stakeholders to evaluate available online audience measure-
ment systems.

In 2004-2005, Telefilm will subscribe to a Web-based service
that will track audience reach for the online projects it invests
in, and enhance its data on offline product sales. This will allow
it to measure success more effectively in the future.

Introducing a Simplified Application Process
Telefilm reduced the financial burden on its clients by creating a
simpler two-step application process, so that only those projects
with the best chances of being successful are invited to submit
full applications. Applicants are now required to submit proposals
that show interest either from broadcasters for convergent Web
productions or from publishers for offline products.

S H O W C A S I N G  C A N A D I A N  TA L E N T  I N  C A N A D A

Telefilm Canada’s support to domestic cultural festivals is also
being realigned with the audience-building objective of the core
programs. Larger festivals play a role in enhancing the profile of
Canadian products while smaller events contribute to increasing
audience awareness of Canadian works in the regions.

Telefilm supported 44 Canadian festivals in 2003-2004,
allocating $2.5 million to these events. This program assisted
national events – the Toronto International Film Festival, the
Montréal World Film Festival, the Vancouver International Film
Festival, the Atlantic Film Festival and the Banff Television
Festival – and 39 regional or specialized festivals spotlighting
documentaries, shorts, arts programming, animation, programs
for children, Aboriginal production, new media, experimental
works and more.

Telefilm also supported festivals offering programming in
the official minority language of the province in which they
were held. These included the Rendez-vous du cinéma qué-
bécois et francophone de Vancouver (British Columbia), the
Festival international du cinéma francophone en Acadie (New
Brunswick) and Cinémental (Manitoba), where audiences had
the opportunity to screen films to which they otherwise would
not have had access.

In addition, the Corporation partnered with Canadian award
shows, such as the Genies and the prix Jutra, to enhance the
profile of Canadian creators and stars, and thus, contribute to
long-term audience development.

It’s a live-action television show, it’s an animated Web site…deafplanet.com
is the first television series and Web site in American Sign Language
(ASL). Produced by marblemedia in partnership with the Canadian
Society of the Deaf, this spirited show is about a boy, Max, who takes
an accidental ride in a museum’s rocket and lands on Deaf Planet. A deaf
teenage girl and her robot help Max learn ASL and make his way.

Web surfers on deafplanet.com encounter activities related to each 
television episode, and video-streamed clips of fun professors who
teach ASL, with English and French voiceover. The site was nominated
for the IMAT Innovation Award at the 2002 EMMA Awards, and was a
finalist in the Software Industry Associations’ 2004 Codie Awards for
Best Educational Special Needs Solution.

deafplanet.com
marblemedia
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Feature Film

The Corporation 2003 Vancouver International Federal Express Award for Most Popular 
Film Festival Canadian Film

The Delicate Art of Parking 2003 World Film Festival Golden Zenith for Best Canadian Film

Gaz Bar Blues 2003 World Film Festival Special Grand Prix of the Jury
2003 World Film Festival Most Popular Canadian Feature Film

La Grande séduction Prix Jutra 2004 Billet d’or – Desjardins 
(Seducing Dr. Lewis) 2003 Atlantic Film Festival People’s Choice Award for Best Picture

Les Invasions barbares 2003 Toronto International Toronto – City Award for 
(The Barbarian Invasions) Film Festival Best Canadian Feature Film

Cinémental 2003 Gerbe d’or for the Audience Award
Cinéfest Sudbury 2003 Bell Canada Best Canadian Film

Love, Sex & Eating The Bones 2003 Toronto International CITYTV Award for Best Canadian First Feature 
Film Festival

On The Corner 2003 Vancouver International CITYTV Western Canada Feature Film Award 
Film Festival

Television

100 Days in the Jungle 18th Annual Gemini Awards Best TV Movie or Dramatic Mini-Series

24 poses 18e Gala des prix Gémeaux Best Dramatic Program

Fortier 18e Gala des prix Gémeaux Best Dramatic Series

Le Monde de Charlotte 18e Gala des prix Gémeaux Best Mini-Series

Roger Toupin, épicier variété Prix Jutra 2004 Best Documentary (tie)

Rumeurs 18e Gala des prix Gémeaux Best Comedy

The Eleventh Hour 18th Annual Gemini Awards Best Dramatic Series

This Hour Has 22 Minutes 18th Annual Gemini Awards Best Comedy Program or Series

Trailer Park Boys 18th Annual Gemini Awards Viewer’s Choice Award for Comedy

New Media

www.degrassi.tv 18th Annual Gemini Awards Most Popular Web Site

In Vivo Concours Boomerang 2003 Grand Prix (CD-ROM/Edutainment)

Juno Beach Virtual Museum 2003 Yorkton Short Film and Golden Sheaf Award for Best Multimedia 
Video Awards

www.savedbythebelles.com Concours Boomerang 2003 Grand Prix (Arts and Culture)

www.wumpa.ca Concours Boomerang 2003 Grand Prix (Youth) (tie)

Feature Film

Television

New Media

Major Canadian Awards Won by Telefilm-Financed Productions in 2003-2004
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3. All investments made by Telefilm in feature film production have been compiled together, regardless of the fund (the Canada Feature Film Fund or Canadian Television
Fund – Equity Investment Program). The amounts presented here may therefore not correspond to data presented in previous years, but are a better reflection of 
Telefilm’s total investments in Canadian feature films.

Market Share of Canadian Films
(2001, 2002 and 2003)

Canada Feature Film Fund and Canadian Television Fund 
– Equity Investment Program (Feature Film Component)
Commitments3

Average Production Budgets
Does not include foreign participation in budgets
where Canada is a minority coproducer.

Average Marketing Budgets
(Canada Feature Film Fund Only)

Linguistic Breakdown
(Production)

Number of Projects by Budget Level
(Production)
Total production budgets
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Strategy

Canada Feature Film Fund

Support bigger feature film production
and marketing budgets through the
Canada Feature Film Fund.

Reserve portion of the Canada Feature
Film Fund for applicants with a 
performance track record.

Encourage greater exchanges between
feature film producers, distributors and
exhibitors.

Canadian Television Fund

Revise CTF guidelines in consultation
with the Fund’s Board.

Canada New Media Fund

Revise Canada New Media Fund 
guidelines.

Improve client audience reporting
requirements.

Target

Audience target: 5% domestic market
share.

Average production budget: $5 million.

Average marketing budget: $500,000.

75% of funds to the performance 
component, according to linguistic 
market.

Promote Canadian feature films at key
Canadian exhibitor and distributor events.

Improve the availability of audience data
for CTF productions.

Orient the Fund towards audience 
objective, assure greater ease of 
application and administration.

Investigate the potential to establish 
an audience target.

Encourage greater focus on audiences,
while recognizing challenge of small,
undercapitalized companies.

Collect more reliable data on audience
reach of projects supported.

Result

Achieved a 3.6% theatrical market share
in 2003, up from 2.7% in 2002.

Average production budgets attained
$6.9 million for English-language projects
and $5.2 million for French-language
projects.

Average marketing budgets attained
$421,000 for English-language projects and
$347,000 for French-language projects.

Allocated 75% of funds, reserved for
French-language projects, to producers
with performance envelopes and 
24% of funds, reserved for English-
language projects, to producers with 
performance envelopes.

Sponsored branded events at two key
Canadian industry events: ShowCanada
and Travelling Quebec.

Worked with the CTF to enhance data
available through BBM and Nielsen.

Reengineered the CTF with emphasis 
on audience objectives.

Simplified the application and decision-
making process.

Acquired market intelligence, and 
contributed to the Department of
Canadian Heritage’s study of 
audience measurement.

Reoriented the fund guidelines towards
audience objective by encouraging more
cross-promotion of products.

Introduced two-step application 
process to alleviate financial burden on
companies with little chance of success.

Revised fund guidelines and 
contracts to require enhanced 
reporting of audience reach.

Performance Review

Objective: Building Audiences for Canadian Cultural Products
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Achieving Results in Canadian Cinema
Over the course of the fiscal year, the Canadian film industry
continued to make progress towards the 5% market share
objective. In fact, the Canadian domestic box office has grown
steadily from 1.7% in 2001 before the inception of the Fund,
2.7% in 2002 to 3.6% by the end of 2003.

Much of this progress occurred in the French-language
market, which grew spectacularly to 19%, while the English-
language market remained at approximately 1%.

Proving that quality and success are compatible, a number of
distinctively Canadian works not only did extremely well at the
box office but also brought home numerous national and inter-
national prizes. Two outstanding examples were Denys Arcand’s
Les Invasions barbares, Canada’s most-honoured film ever
with more than 40 international awards and nominations
including the country’s first-ever Oscar® for Best Foreign-
Language Film and which took home $7.3 million, and Jean-
François Pouliot’s La Grande séduction (Seducing Dr. Lewis),
the 2003-2004 box-office champion at $8.9 million and which
received a coveted Audience Award at the 2004 Sundance
Film Festival.

This fiscal year, the first wave of English films produced
under the new audience-building rules was released. 
The first, Émile Gaudreault’s Mambo Italiano, was released on
135 screens across Canada and simultaneously opened in the
United States. Mambo Italiano brought in more than $5.1 mil-
lion across Canada – making it the most successful English-
Canadian film in 20 years. And for a few weeks, it also made
the U.S. Top 20.

And with success stories such as The Blue Butterfly
(Le Papillon bleu), Le Dernier tunnel, the documentary feature
The Corporation and Dans une galaxie près de chez vous, the
momentum continues. The domestic market share for the first
three months of 2004 stood at just over 5% – up from 
3.5% the same time the previous year.

Once a thriving fishing port, Sainte-Marie-La-Mauderne has fallen on hard
times. Seducing Dr. Lewis, by first-time director Jean-François Pouliot,
is the heart-warming chronicle of how Germain and 150 villagers court
a young physician from Montréal.

Seducing Dr. Lewis took home an impressive $8.9 million in 
Quebec and the Maritimes alone. It was the highest grossing film 
in Quebec in 2003, beating out the English and French versions 
of blockbusters like The Lord of the Rings: The Return of the King. 
Among its numerous achievements, the film won the World Cinema
Dramatic Audience Award at Sundance and attracted 300,000 ticket-
holders in France during its first two weeks in theatres.

Feature Film Audiences

La Grande séduction (Seducing Dr. Lewis)
Studio Max Films



Telefilm Canada congratulates Denys Arcand and Cinémaginaire for the Most Honoured Film in Canadian History

Oscar®, Academy of Motion Picture Arts Best Foreign-Language Film
and Sciences, 2004

Genie Awards, 2004 Best Motion Picture
Achievement in Direction (Denys Arcand)
Best Original Screenplay (Denys Arcand)
Performance by an Actor in a Leading Role (Rémy Girard)
Performance by an Actor in a Supporting Role (Stéphane Rousseau)
Performance by an Actress in a Supporting role (Marie-Josée Croze)

César Awards, Paris, 2004 Best French Film of the Year
Best Director (Denys Arcand)
Best Original Screenplay (Denys Arcand)

Cannes Film Festival, 2003 – Best Screenplay (Denys Arcand)
Official Competition Best Actress (Marie-Josée Croze)

Golden Globe Awards 2004, Nomination – Best Foreign-Language Film
Hollywood Foreign Press

BAFTA Awards, London, 2004 Nomination – Best Film Not in the English Language
Nomination – Best Original Screenplay (Denys Arcand)

Toronto Intenational Film Festival – Best Canadian Feature Film
Opening Film

Prix Henri-Jeanson, Paris, 2003 Award given by the Société des auteurs et compositeurs dramatiques for 
Best Original Screenplay

European Film Awards, European Film Best Non-European Film
Academy, Berlin, 2003

National Board of Review 2004 Best Foreign-Language Film Award

Prix Jutra 2004, Montréal, 2004 Best Picture (Denise Robert, Daniel Louis)
Best Director (Denys Arcand)
Best Screenplay (Denys Arcand)
Best Actress (Marie-Josée Croze)
Award for the Quebec film that made the biggest impact outside of Canada

– Prix Le Lait

Valladolid International Film Festival Winner of the Audience Award

Chicago Film Festival 2003 Audience Award – Among the Audience’s Top 10 Favourite Films

Prix Lumières, France Best Francophone Film of 2003

2003-2004 Annual Report
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Les Invasions barbares (The Barbarian Invasions):
Major Canadian and International Awards and Nominations



Telefilm Canada

24

Television Audiences

Measuring Audiences for Canadian Television
As was noted earlier, in order to develop a performance target
for the Canadian Television Fund, Telefilm Canada made it a pri-
ority, in 2003-2004, to understand the complex field of audi-
ence measurement in the television environment.

Encouraged by Telefilm, the CTF improved audience intelli-
gence through its initiative to add genre and country of origin
to Canadian audience data tracking systems. This initiative will
improve the Corporation’s ability to track audience data and
begin to build a more comprehensive database to measure the
performance of Canadian programming on Canadian television.

While all of these developments are encouraging, work still
needs to be done. A long-term vision is needed to set a target
that will align public policy and the administration of public
funds for Canadian television programming with the goal of
increasing audiences for such programming. Unlike the
Canada Feature Film Fund, no clear performance target has yet
been identified. Telefilm looks forward to working with the
Department of Canadian Heritage and the Canadian Television
Fund to determine an appropriate audience target for English-
Canadian television drama.

Small Screen Success Stories
Notwithstanding the need to create a performance target for
the CTF, there were still undeniable achievements in Canadian
television in 2003-2004. Riveting dramas such as Fortier, auda-
cious comedies like Trailer Park Boys, pioneering youth programs
such as Degrassi: The Next Generation, and poignant docu-
mentaries like Roger Toupin, épicier variété not only connected
with audiences but also took home awards.

These and other success stories indicate that home-grown
content can work with Canadian audiences. For instance,
Degrassi: The Next Generation did well for a youth/family
drama, capturing half-a-million viewers in repeated airings 
during this spring, and its companion Web site is also a hit 
with Canadians with over 100,000 subscribers. Elsewhere,
Trailer Park Boys’ new episodes in 2003-2004 premiered to
good numbers (400,000 viewers) on Showcase.
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There is currently no agreed upon impartial audience measure-
ment system for this low-volume, emergent Canadian cultural
content industry, a fact that poses a challenge to Telefilm and
the government of Canada in their efforts to evaluate and
benchmark success. In 2003-2004, Telefilm Canada collabo-
rated with the Department of Canadian Heritage and other
stakeholders to evaluate available audience measurement sys-
tems for interactive, digital entertainment products, and pur-
chased available market intelligence to learn more about what
Canadians are doing online.

Using newly available data, in 2004-2005, Telefilm will
develop a database from which to determine appropriate
benchmarks and audience performance targets.
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F E AT U R E  F I L M

For French-language cinema, the goal will be to maintain what
has been achieved and find ways to expand its audience base
outside of Canada.

As for the English-language industry, Telefilm Canada will con-
tinue to build a wide portfolio of strong releases, at various budget
sizes, to create the greatest opportunity for audience success.

T E L E V I S I O N

A Two-Year Commitment
With their performance envelopes, broadcasters will have the
flexibility to direct CTF funding to productions from dedicated
envelopes allotted to them for 2004-05. The size of each
broadcaster’s envelope will be adjusted in 2005-06 to reflect
the degree to which the productions selected by the broad-
casters meet the goals of the CTF. They will be adjusted based
on the audience success of their programming, the amount of
private financing levered and the regional distribution of
licences.

The Fund’s new direction is fixed for at least two years until
2006-2007.

Develop A Viewership Target
In the long-term, the ability to reach Canadian audiences may
become the most important criteria for assessing television
projects supported by Telefilm.

While the CTF’s initiative to improve audience intelligence by
adding genre and country of origin to audience data tracking
systems is a step in the right direction, Telefilm still requires
better information on the quantity and quality of promotion and
scheduling that broadcasters do for Canadian programming.
Telefilm will continue to conduct research in this area, with a
view to how to best encourage broadcasters to commit to pro-
motion and scheduling in a way that can be measured.

Telefilm expects to be able to provide comprehensive audi-
ence data on the English-language projects it finances and
comparative data with other genres by 2005-2006.

Strategic Considerations for 2004-2005

Lauded as the top-grossing Canadian documentary film ever, 
The Corporation has caused a sensation in boardrooms and beyond.
The film explores the pervasive reach of corporations into society, 
interviewing CEOs, whistle-blowers, brand gurus, corporate spies, pun-
dits and academics.

In addition to grossing over $1.6 million to date at the box office 
and garnering 19 awards at 14 festivals – including the World 
Cinema Documentary Audience Award at Sundance – the film has a
successful Web site. Over 50,000 people per month visit the site, which
has 12,000 subscribers.

The Corporation
Invisible Hand Productions Inc.
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Building the Capacity 
of the Canadian Industry
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In 2003-2004, Telefilm Canada allocated some $230 million to
Canadian audiovisual production, generating a total overall pro-
duction volume of almost $1 billion ($985 million). Each dollar
invested by Telefilm generated upwards of $3 dollars in addi-
tional economic activity in the Canadian industry.

To support its primary goal of building larger audiences for
Canadian cultural products, Telefilm has established a second
major objective of strengthening human and corporate capac-
ity. The Corporation’s success in reaching audiences will be
determined by the degree to which it can help improve the cor-
porate health of Canadian companies, attract more international
financing and sales and give Canadian talent the tools they
need to succeed.

Operational Review: Business Activities

I M P R O V I N G  C O R P O R AT E  H E A LT H

Feature Film
Telefilm commissioned two studies for feature film in 
2003-2004: a feasibility study to look at ways of consolidating
financial services, and a report on strengthening sales. 
These studies lay the basis for further work in 2004-2005.

Television
The recent slowing down of growth in television production
in Canada has challenged many Canadian producers.
Between 1995-1996 and 2000-2001, television production
grew by 78%. However, since 2000-2001, that growth has
dropped to just over 3%. Among projects financed through the
Equity Investment Program in 2003-2004, total production
budgets for English-language projects decreased by 6%, and
by 12% for French-language projects, over the previous year.
The total number of hours produced also fell. Again among
projects financed through the EIP in 2003-2004, there were
13% fewer English-language television hours produced and
35% fewer in French over the previous year.

In 2003-2004, the Corporation took some important steps
to develop the capitalization of companies via standardized
Producer Fee and Corporate Overhead (PFCO), and recoup-
ment policies for the television sector. Telefilm’s discussions
with SMB clients, regarding their viability and capitalization,
have not yet been concluded and are on the agenda for 
2004-2005.

New Media
In the new media industry, close to 10,000 full-time jobs were
lost in 2003, according to a recent Canadian Interactive Media
Producers Survey, as companies closed or downsized.
Producers are taking too much risk, as compared to other sec-
tors, and revenue models are challenging. Elsewhere, Canadian
Culture Online’s National Advisory Board recently recommended
that the Department of Canadian Heritage strengthen the pro-
duction of new online content though an increase in current
funding levels, and shift away from other online funding priorities.

OBJECTIVE BUILDING THE CAPACITY
#2 OF THE CANADIAN INDUSTRY



2003-2004 Annual Report

29

Building the Capacity of the Canadian Industry

FrenchEnglish

2001
2002

2000
2001

1999
2000

2002
2003

2003
2004

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

500,000

In thousands of dollars

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1,000

1,100

1,200

FrenchEnglish

2001
2002

2000
2001

1999
2000

2002
2003

2003
2004

2001
2002

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

10%

30%

50%

70%

90%

2002
2003

2003
2004

Telefilm Canada Other Government Sources

Producers and Producer-related Private Assistance Funds

Distributors and Other Private

2003
2004

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

10%

30%

50%

70%

90%

2002
2003

2001
2002

Telefilm Canada Other Government Sources

Producers and Producer-related Private Assistance Funds

Distributors and Other Private

Canadian Television Fund  – Equity Investment Program
Commitments

Canada New Media Fund (Product Assistance Component)
Commitments – Analysis of Financial Participation

Total Hours
Excluding Aboriginal-language productions

Total Budgets
Excluding Aboriginal-language productions

English-Language Productions French-Language Productions



Telefilm Canada

30

Music
The Music Entrepreneur Program (MEP) was created within the
framework of the Department of Canadian Heritage’s Canada
Music Fund. The ultimate goal of the Program is to ensure that
Canadian music entrepreneurs build strong, sustainable busi-
nesses. The MEP also contributes to the goal of Canadian
Heritage’s Sound Recording Policy, which is to provide Canada
and the world with a diverse range of music on radios and televi-
sion sets, in stores, at public venues and on the Internet.

The Program provides corporate assistance to Canadian
companies that are actively engaged in developing and pro-
moting Canadian musical content, creators and performers. 
In 2003-2004, Telefilm disbursed $8.7 million to 13 sound
recording companies, providing support for the implementation
of forward-looking business plans. Both established and emer-
ging companies – representing popular music and specialized
genres including classical, jazz, Aboriginal and children’s –
received financing.

Telefilm Canada commissioned a market study that will pro-
vide it with a better understanding of the structure of the industry
in Canada and detailed statistical information, particularly on the
financial health of companies and on sales (both Canadian and
foreign) of recordings in Canada and internationally. This infor-
mation should be of significant value and interest to the industry
as a whole. The results of the study will also facilitate and sup-
port the evaluation of the effectiveness of corporate support as
funded, for example, through the Music Entrepreneur Program.

As the world’s first interactive music album, In Vivo is a bold strategy to
give fans of the rap group Loco Locass more intimate and creative
access to their musical idols – via a CD-ROM. Based on a fictional nar-
rative, In Vivo has over 60 minutes of multimedia content and music
specifically created for home computers, plus 10 minutes of interactive
music content.

The plot involves the Radical Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) and its
attempt to neutralize Loco Locass, widely revered as the Beastie Boys
of Montréal. In Vivo, produced by Freeset Interactive Entertainment,
won, most notably, the British Design & Art Directors Award (D&AD
Award) for Multimedia Sound Design, plus the Grand Prize (Offline) at
the Construction New Media Awards in South Africa.

In Vivo
Freeset Interactive Entertainment
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AT T R A C T I N G  M O R E  F O R E I G N  F I N A N C I N G  
A N D  S A L E S

The international marketplace is undergoing significant change
because of a downturn in sales and a relative reduction in inter-
national coproduction activity.

Feature Film
In 2003-2004, feature film coproduction activity, in terms of
both numbers of productions and budget levels, continued to
rise, partly the result of a few international coproductions with
very large budgets. However, regulatory changes brought by
the U.K. in 2003 will put an end to the four-year trend of
increasing coproduction activity between the two countries and
will probably result in a significant drop beginning next year.
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Television
Foreign financing of Canadian television production dropped
once again in 2003-2004 to only half of what it was in 
1999-2000. As well, international coproduction activity
dropped by 20% from 2001-2002, largely the result of the
cancellation of the “sales and leaseback program” in the U.K.
These trends are expected to continue in the future.
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Evaluating Canada’s Coproduction Competitiveness
Emerging evidence shows that Canada, a pioneer in the devel-
opment of international coproduction treaties, has become less
competitive that in the past; its ability to attract partners for joint
financing is becoming more difficult. Contributing factors
include Canada’s outdated agreements, and the growing trend
towards intra-European Union coproductions due to the EU’s
more flexible treaties. To best illustrate the situation, Canada,
which was once France’s third largest coproduction partner, has
now dropped to seventh place.

Further to these developments, the Corporation commis-
sioned, with the Department of Canadian Heritage, a study to
examine the competitiveness of Canada’s film and television
coproduction treaties. For Telefilm Canada, the shift in interna-
tional markets makes it increasingly urgent for the government to
review existing coproduction agreements and its current policy
with respect to this area of activity, and to develop new tools and
strategies to help increase foreign financing and partnerships.
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Volume
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D E V E L O P I N G  C A N A D I A N  TA L E N T

Sharing Stories, Sharing Voices
The Corporation launched its Spark Plug Program as part of
the Department of Canadian Heritage’s Spark Initiative, a part-
nership between the Department’s three cultural agencies –
the National Film Board, the Canada Council for the Arts and
Telefilm Canada. The overall goal of the Spark Plug Program is
to advance the business and creative skills of mid- to
advanced-career visible minority and Aboriginal producers in
the development of dramatic television production. Through the
Program, it is expected that the number of promising television
scripts available for licensing from these cultural groups will
increase.

Telefilm also reinforced its support to French-language
producers outside Quebec through its ongoing participation in
the Department of Canadian Heritage’s Interdepartmental
Partnership with the Official-Language Communities program.
The Corporation provided additional support, through its contri-
bution to the Canadian Television Fund, to French-language
production companies outside Quebec seeking access to devel-
opment funds.

Shot in Eastern Ontario, FranCœur tells the story of Luc (Marc Bélanger),
a young man torn between his ambitions and the harsh reality of life on
a dairy farm. To satisfy his need for personal freedom and appease his
deepest desires, Luc is compelled to defy the forces of convention.
Although his chance of inheriting the family farm is remote, he puts off the
idea of accepting adult responsibility and makes his own way in the world.

This compelling series is the first Franco-Ontarian drama produced in
Canada. First aired on TFO in February 2003, FranCœur shot its third
season this summer.

FranCœur
Les Productions R. Charbonneau inc.
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Supporting Aboriginal Creators
Support for Aboriginal programming, in a variety of languages,
was primarily achieved through the Aboriginal-language 
envelope of the Canadian Television Fund. Funding through
other programs provided additional support to Aboriginal 
producers, including the Indigenous Arts Service Organization,
the National Screen Institute’s Aboriginal Cultural Trade
Initiative, and the Aboriginal Arts Film and Television Program
at the Banff Centre for the Arts.

Grants were also provided to help Aboriginal filmmakers
showcase their works at such events as the Dreamspeakers
Film Festival (Edmonton); the Native American Film and Video
Festival (New York); the imagineNATIVE Film and Media Arts
Festival (Toronto); and the ReelWorld Film Festival (Toronto),
which screens productions by all visible minorities.

Backing Talent Development for a Thriving Industry
Telefilm further recognizes that support for the professional
development of Canadian creators is vital to promoting healthy
and thriving film, television and new media industries. Individuals
are supported primarily through the $2.3-million National Training
School Program, which currently funds four institutes (the
National Screen Institute, the Institut national de l’image et du
son, the Canadian Screen Training Centre and the Canadian
Film Centre), providing specialized film and television training.

Promoting Canadian Creators and Products Around 
the World
Increasing visibility at international markets and festivals is an
effective and innovative approach to forging partnerships, 
placing Canada among the world’s most highly competitive 
players. Telefilm provided strategic support – in collaboration
with industry associations, provincial agencies and other
Canadian organizations – for Canadian companies to sell their
productions at key markets, including MIPTV, NATPE
(National Association of Television Program Executives),
MIPCOM and E3 (Electronic Entertainment Expo).

The Corporation’s Canada Pavilion continued to be a suc-
cess, with a total of 256 companies participating under the
Telefilm Canada umbrella in 2003-2004.

Telefilm also supported 48 Canadian filmmakers to travel to
major foreign festivals, most notably the Berlin Film Festival and
the Cannes Film Festival, to promote their works.

Promotional support was provided to many official
Canadian entries, including advertising for the Canadian
industry and its products in trade publications and high-profile
promotional brochures. Promotional material created for the
2003 Cannes and Berlin film festivals garnered awards at two
prestigious competitions: a Certificate of Excellence in the
Brochure Category of the Type Directors Club Competition in
New York, and a prize in the Cultural Brochure Category at the
Grafika Competition in Montréal.



Strategy

Improve understanding of the role of broadcasters in the
financing and promotion of theatrical feature films.

Strengthen the viability and capitalization of SMB clients.

Improve the international competitiveness of Canadian 
productions for a confident and competitive voice at home 
and abroad.

Result

Commissioned a study on current broadcaster financing and
promotional activities of feature films, and used it to prepare a
brief for CRTC’s Call for Comments on English drama policy.

Encouraged greater capitalization of companies via a 
standardized Producer Fee and Corporate Overhead policy 
in the television sector.

Held a Joint Commission with France and meetings with 
U.K. officials to evaluate current coproduction environment,
share knowledge and commit to future collaboration.
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Regional Breakdown of Commitments

E N S U R I N G  E Q U I TA B L E  S U P P O R T  
A C R O S S  C A N A D A

Telefilm is committed to assuring fair and equitable allocation
of its resources across linguistic and cultural groups, and
across Canada’s major regions. Approximately two-thirds of
overall resources are accorded to English-language projects
and one-third to French-language works.

Canada Feature Film Fund and 
Canadian Television Fund – 
Equity Investment Program 
(Feature Film Component)

Canadian Television Fund
Equity Investment Program

Canada New Media Fund
(Product Assistance Component)
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Improve the Health of Canadian Companies
In order to better evaluate the corporate health of Canadian
companies, Telefilm and the cultural industries need improved
tools. In 2004-2005, Telefilm will encourage standardized
financial reporting practices for feature film and television.

Furthermore, Telefilm will continue to look at the feasibility
of reducing financial services costs, improving access to alter-
nate finance sources and strengthening international sales.

Promote the Canadian Industry Internationally
In recent years, foreign investment has declined, leading to a
decline in the overall volume of production in Canada.
Telefilm has begun to work with provincial commissioners to
coordinate efforts to improve Canada’s capacity to attract more
investment.

The Corporation looks forward to working with the
Department of Heritage to look at, and if necessary, renegoti-
ate Canada’s international treaties to ensure they remain com-
petitive in the future.

Enhance Professional Skills Development
Finally, building on its experience with the highly successful
Spark Plug Program, in 2004-2005, Telefilm will identify train-
ing strengths and gaps across the country in order to develop
a multi-year strategic training plan. Of particular interest to
Telefilm is the gap in available management training for small-
and medium-sized cultural companies.

Tweens are batty for Silverwing, an animated action-adventure series and
companion Web site. Based on author Kenneth Oppel’s best-selling trilo-
gy, www.silverwing.tv is a 13-level online game that  corresponds to the
themes and plots on the television series.  Follow the hero, an outcast
bat named Shade Silverwing, as he and his cohort Marina try to return
to the bat colony.

Created by Bardel Entertainment (The Christmas Orange), the series
won the Platinum Award for Best Animated Television and Cable
Production at the 2004 WorldFest Houston Film Festival – beating out
the immensely popular Arthur. Silverwing was also one of the top four
nominees for Best Animated Film at FRAMES’ Global Conference of
Film Makers.

Strategic Considerations for 2004-2005

www.silverwing.tv
Bardel Entertainment Inc.
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Telefilm Canada’s success in helping to build audiences
depends to a large extent on the performance of Telefilm itself.
A number of initiatives to help the Corporation achieve this objec-
tive began in 2002, some were completed this fiscal year and
others are ongoing and will be implemented in the coming years.

Operational Review: Business Activities

Building a More Client-Oriented, Efficient and 
Accountable Telefilm
Telefilm made great strides again this year as it continued to
overhaul its internal business practices to become more client-
oriented, more efficient and more accountable.

Two years ago, Telefilm embarked on a major overhaul of its
administration and practices. The overhaul was initiated for two
reasons. First, a survey of Telefilm Canada’s client base revealed
that it was widely viewed as arbitrary, non-transparent, compli-
cated and inefficient. Second, the organization’s internal auditors
(Samson Bélair/Deloitte & Touche) had identified serious prob-
lems with the Corporation’s decision-making processes, including
failure to properly document basic rules and standards. They
concluded that for many of Telefilm’s activities, the risk of error
was unacceptably high.

To address these problems, the Corporation embarked on
five major initiatives.

First, Telefilm reviewed its decision-making processes for
its core programs (feature film, television and new media).

Second, an overhaul of Telefilm’s internal business policies
and procedures (P&P) was initiated. The review covered all
aspects of business affairs – from how the Corporation deter-
mined completeness of applications, through to drawdown sched-
ules, defaults, reporting of production costs, viability of financing,
completion protection and standardizing of recoupment deals.
In doing this Telefilm mapped every process in the organization,
simplified it to the greatest extent possible, standardized it and
documented it. The result is an organization whose internal pro-
cesses are substantially simpler, less costly and better understood.
The P&P review is complete for television and documented for
all major policy areas. A similar review is underway for feature
film and new media.

The Corporation now regularly reviews its processes and
information systems to ensure that evaluation, decision-making
and project-funding risks are maintained at acceptable levels.

Third, the design of a quality control program was initi-
ated in 2003-2004, as the next step in the implementation of
standardized policies and procedures.

Fourth, Telefilm’s approach to financial management was
also substantially strengthened. The Corporation now manages
cash more aggressively than at any time in its history.

Lastly, in 2003-2004, Telefilm also introduced a project
management system to ensure that new initiatives within the
Corporation are clearly identified, properly resourced, and
effectively monitored. The system was first introduced in the
Information Systems and Technology department where it
resulted in greater control over major software development
projects and system upgrades. It has now been extended to all
parts of the organization, including policy development and new
program initiatives.

Collectively, all of these efforts, in conjunction with changes
to the CTF mentioned earlier, resulted in significant administra-
tive savings within the organization. Twenty-seven positions were
rationalized at Telefilm, resulting in six vacant positions that
were eliminated, 11 departures and 10 transfers. Some of these
savings will be passed on to the Canadian Television Fund to
increase money available to finance production, while others
will be directed to new initiatives designed to strengthen the
financial and commercial performance of the industry.

OBJECTIVE BUILDING A NEW
#3 TELEFILM CANADA
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Launching a Client Charter – A First for a Canadian
Cultural Agency
Telefilm officially launched its Service Charter for Telefilm
Canada’s Clients in 2003-2004, which represents the
Corporation’s commitment to provide efficient, high-quality 
customer service. For the first time, Telefilm outlined specific
service targets for responding to requests for information,
acknowledging receipt of applications, rendering decisions, con-
tracting and requisitioning drawdowns. The Charter formalizes
Telefilm’s service standards, and provides clients with a clear
understanding of the mandate and make-up of Telefilm and the
service standards they can expect. It also provides procedures
for voicing complaints and resolving customer service issues.

Implementing Sophisticated Information Systems: 
An Asset at Telefilm
In 1999, Telefilm Canada embarked on an important shift
in direction in the way it manages its information systems.
An ambitious master plan for managing the organization’s tech-
nology and information system was introduced, emphasizing
Information Systems and Technology’s key role in achieving
Telefilm’s strategic objectives.

The strategy has so far been successful and information
assets are now well aligned with the needs of the Corporation
and the industry.

Knowledge Management
Because Telefilm operates in the knowledge sector, a docu-
mentation management system was introduced in 2003-2004
to permit the efficient management of Telefilm’s large body of
documents. The online services offered to clients have consid-
erably increased the quantity of electronic documents in the
Corporation’s systems. This new tool will allow Telefilm to man-
age its knowledge over the years. Collaboration, publication
and content management tools will be added over the coming
months in order to optimize sharing and joint work with both
internal and external clients.

A New Extranet
In 2003-2004, Telefilm made the first of its online services
available to clients. These services permit customers to obtain
quick access at all times to information related to the status
of their applications, reports due and accounts receivable.
Since autumn 2003, clients can also submit their applications
via the extranet. Online services are constantly being updated,
and since February 2004, it is now possible to submit financing
applications, including all required documentation, in electronic
format. By April, 120 clients had registered to take advantage
of this new initiative – and this was just the beginning.

Charismatic actor Nicolas Campbell stars in Da Vinci’s Inquest as the 
controversial Vancouver coroner who, working with homicide detectives 
and pathologists, speaks for the dead to protect the living.

In its sixth season, Da Vinci’s Inquest is now broadcast in 45 countries
on five continents and distinguished as one of Canada’s top-rated dra-
matic series. It has won over 35 industry awards and been nominated
for a prestigious Banff Rockie Award for Best Continuing Series. At the
2003 Gemini Awards, Da Vinci’s Inquest won three awards, including
Best Writing, Best Sound and Best Original Music Score.

Da Vinci’s Inquest
Haddock Entertainment Inc. and Barna-Alper Productions
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Information Management: Best Practices
A first step has been taken toward aligning information man-
agement at Telefilm with the ITIL model (IT Infrastructure
Library). Now recognized worldwide, the model was developed
15 years ago by the British government and is increasingly
found in public administrations. The standard proposes the best
practices for IT service management.

An Enhanced Web Site (www.telefilm.gc.ca)
Averaging 24 million hits per year, Telefilm’s Web site is not only
an important promotional tool, but is also central to the imple-
mentation of standardized and transparent policies and proce-
dures, and to the effective exchange of information between
Telefilm and its partners. In 2003-2004, the Web site was
revamped, not only in terms of its look and feel but also its func-
tionality, in order to make it an even better means for communi-
cating with the industry, the general public and the news media.

The Corporation’s online media room was reorganized, with
the aim of facilitating working relationships with journalists and
other members of the media. This section contains relevant and
up-to-date information on the Corporation, including press
releases, logos, senior management biographies and promo-
tional information on Canadian feature film releases.

Finally, an online consultation mechanism was launched
in June 2003. The comments received allowed Telefilm to
gather client feedback, to update its Official Coproductions
and Canada Feature Film Fund development guidelines,
Standard Fees and Corporate Overhead and recoupment poli-
cies, and to finalize the client service charter.

Measuring Performance at Telefilm Canada
Telefilm has adopted a performance-oriented approach to inter-
nal administration. The Corporation is in the process of develop-
ing clearly measurable targets for all of its work, along with the
necessary tools and systems to monitor them.

In 2003-2004, Telefilm implemented an audience data
warehouse to be used for audience measurement. Through the
data warehouse, Telefilm can provide timely business intelli-
gence to managers and staff. A new “dashboard,” tracking the
industry’s progress towards the Canadian feature film box
office objective, is now operational.

Telefilm intends to establish an audience tracking system
for English drama programs. Telefilm Canada lent its support to
the Canadian Television Fund effort to solicit the two Canadian
audience data research companies (BBM and Nielsen’s) to
incorporate the country of origin and genre of programming
within the broadcast logs that broadcasters submit to these
data research organizations. This will allow Telefilm to build a
comprehensive audience database to measure the perform-
ance of Canadian programming on Canadian television.

Telefilm expects to be able to produce reports on Canadian
television and new media audiences beginning in 2004-2005.
However, Telefilm requires at least two years of data to estab-
lish benchmarks and targets.

To develop indicators that will track the annual export
sales of Canadian films and television programs (both from
Telefilm and non-Telefilm clients) at international markets,
the Corporation launched an annual national export survey.
The survey was also designed to identify coproductions
secured through attendance at major international events. 
A lower-than-expected response rate resulted in a poor level
of data that does not accurately reflect Canadian export activity.
In the coming year Telefilm will review the model used to col-
lect sales and coproduction data, and validate whether the sur-
vey instrument can be refined to improve the response rate and
quality of information collected.

As the key objective of the Music Entrepreneur Program is
to assist with corporate health and stability, Telefilm established
a tracking system for evaluating corporate health of successful
MEP applicants over time. It is too soon to report on perform-
ance at this time. However, Telefilm expects to report on per-
formance in this area in the coming two years.



Strategies

Clarify and make public standards of service for clients.

Improve efficiency and service through technological 
applications.

Simplify administration of funds.

Results

Operationalized client service standards.

Developed efficiency indicators:
� turnaround times on decisions (8-10 weeks); and
� requisition drawdowns such that they are mailed to clients 

by Public Works and Government Services Canada 
(PWGSC) within eight business days.

Implemented an automated tracking system to measure results.

Launched online services that allow clients access to a group
of services, including information on their file, online application
requests, etc.

Launched a documentation management tool (“Docunet”).

Simplified the application and decision-making process for the
Canadian Television Fund.

Implemented a two-step application procedure for the Canada
New Media Fund, such that only the most promising projects
are required to submit a full application.
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Performance Review

Objective: Building a New Telefilm Canada
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E N S U R I N G  C O R P O R AT E  E F F E C T I V E N E S S

Activity-Based Costing
Administration costs went down in some programs, while
sharply rising in others. Rising costs are largely attributable to
a sharp rise in the volume of applications treated by Telefilm.
Staff cuts, as a result of the restructuring of the CTF, were only
implemented in February 2004.

As well, Telefilm’s changes to the application process in the
Canada New Media Fund, introduced to address the severe rise
in demand, were applicable only as of the end of this fiscal year.
Telefilm will complete the streamlining of the CNMF, and the
Canada Feature Film Fund, in the coming year. For all these rea-
sons, Telefilm expects to see increased efficiencies reflected in
its activity-based costing (ABC) report for 2004-2005.

In Telefilm’s ABC model, the organization makes some basic
assumptions with respect to defining costs. Variable costs are
those that vary in accordance with cost drivers. At Telefilm, the
principal cost driver is the volume of applications. With respect
to fixed costs, those that do not vary with variance in cost driv-
ers, Telefilm has chosen to consider some variable costs as
fixed because the cost of tracking them would exceed the ben-
efits (photocopies, for example).

Client Service
In its client service charter, Telefilm Canada promised to “turn-
around” requisitions for contract drawdowns from clients within
eight business days. The following table shows the organiza-
tion’s success rate in meeting its target in the high-volume sec-
tors of feature film, television and new media.
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Tie Performance Evaluation to Strategic Objectives
Following the results of Telefilm’s client satisfaction survey in
2001-2002, and the launch of the client service charter this fis-
cal year, the Corporation will conduct a follow-up client satisfac-
tion survey in 2004-2005 to measure its progress in this area.

On the subject of Information Systems and Technology,
the group will present an internal service charter outlining
such standards as turnaround times for delivering IT solu-
tions. Information Systems will also continue to improve
Telefilm Canada’s online services, extending its offering to
coproduction certification clients.

The overhaul of Telefilm’s internal policies and procedures
will continue into 2004-2005, where it anticipates completing
the review in feature film and new media. The Corporation will
also implement quality control measures to ensure that the effi-
ciencies gained are lasting.

Performance measurement continues to be a preoccupa-
tion at Telefilm, for without accurate and reliable tools, the
Corporation cannot measure its progress towards its stated
objectives. In 2004-2005, Telefilm will begin warehousing
data relating to television and new media audiences.
Performance reports in these sectors will be developed as early
as possible.

Planning for the Future: An Empowered Workforce
Following on the foundation laid with respect to its human
resources goals, in 2004-2005, Telefilm will develop a succes-
sion plan for all directors and senior management.

Strategic Considerations for 2004-2005

Underdogs, unite! Trailer Park Boys is a mockumentary television series
about life in the trailer park, where the moral high ground is rarely taken.
Ricky, Julian and Bubbles tangle with the law, lovers, friends and family,
as they concoct get-rich-quick schemes to retire before the age of 35.

The cult-like status of Trailer Park Boys reached new heights with 
the season four finale featuring a guest appearance from Rita MacNeil.
The record-breaking broadcast brought in a total of 688,000 viewers 
– the highest audience for an episode of a Canadian-produced series 
on an English specialty television in the past five years. BBC America is
debuting the series in the U.S. and it airs on the Comedy Channel 
in Australia.

Trailer Park Boys
TPB III Productions Ltd./Topsail Entertainment
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A  N E W  C O R P O R AT E  ST R U C T U R E

In the past two years, there have been significant changes to
Telefilm Canada’s corporate structure. These changes were
necessary to reflect the particular characteristics and levels of
maturity of the English- and French-language markets; to
increase the synergy between its core programs and interna-
tional activities to ensure Canada’s competitiveness in the global
market; and to offer improved client service through closer ties
with the industry.

Announced in December 2003, Telefilm’s new corpo-
rate structure has five main divisions: English Operations;
French Operations; International Operations and Development;
Policy, Planning and Research; and Finance and Administration.
Communications and Public Affairs, Human Resources and
Legal Services are organized within the office of the
Executive Director.

Three Operations Divisions: English, French and
International
The Operations divisions are responsible for the administration
of Telefilm’s programs. This includes the receipt of applications,
decision-making and performance evaluation. Through each of
the “one-stop shops” located in Vancouver, Toronto, Montréal
and Halifax, clients are able to receive full-service support for
all of Telefilm’s programs (except for the Music Entrepreneur
Program and international coproduction, which are adminis-
tered in Montréal).

In order to reflect the asymmetrical nature of Telefilm’s
investment policies, Canadian operations are now comprised of
two language groups: one for English projects and another for
French projects. The French Operations team, located in the
Quebec office, is responsible for all of Telefilm’s French-language
activities and provides service to French-language clients across
Canada. The English market is served through each of Telefilm’s
four regional offices. This asymmetrical structure makes it easier
to develop and implement action plans specifically targeted at one
or the other of the two linguistic markets.

Chair of the Board

Finance and
Administration
Accounting; Collection
and Compliance;
Financial Planning and
Risk Management;
Information Systems
and Technology; and
Material Resources

French Operations
Administration of
Telefilm’s funds and
programs – French-
language projects

International
Operations and
Development
Administration of
international copro-
ductions and strategic
international opportu-
nities for producers

English Operations
Administration of
Telefilm’s funds and
programs – English-
language projects

Policy, Planning 
and Research
Policy, Planning,
Research; Special
Projects Management;
and Corporate Affairs

Communications and Public Affairs Human Resources Legal Services and Access to Information

Executive Director
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English and French Operations are further organized around
Telefilm’s key corporate objective of reaching audiences in fea-
ture film, television and new media. To ensure consistency of
policies and procedures across all offices, each industry sector
is managed by a national Sector Head. These managers are
also responsible for coordinating decision-making on all signifi-
cant investment requests (typically over $1 million) to ensure
that the best projects are chosen regardless of the region they
come from.

Telefilm’s international activities are expanding with a focus
on facilitating foreign financing and encouraging strategic part-
nerships. As a result, its international activities are now recog-
nized as an integral part of Operations. In keeping with Telefilm’s
cross-sectoral approach to strengthening the Canadian industry,
International Operations is responsible for initiatives in all four
cultural industry sectors served by Telefilm.

Policy, Planning and Research
In addition to Policy, Planning and Research, this division oversees
Special Project Management and Corporate Affairs. PPR ensures
that new policies and major policy changes are fully developed
before they are integrated into the Corporation’s various
Operations groups. These include the production of program
guidelines and the standardization of business policies and pro-
cedures. This group is responsible for ensuring that Telefilm’s
objectives are supported by market intelligence and research.
It also ensures that the Corporation’s performance is monitored
and that programs are evaluated. Finally, it is responsible for rela-
tions with the government.

Finance and Administration
The Finance and Administration Division is responsible for
accounting services, collection and compliance, mate-
rial resources, financial planning and risk management.
Telefilm Canada’s information systems, located within this divi-
sion, are an integral component of Telefilm’s ability to achieve its
objectives. Performance must be measured; without sophisti-
cated tools for measurement, Telefilm would have neither the
capacity to measure or monitor success. This is particularly
important in the areas of measuring audiences and evaluating
client service.

Communications and Public Affairs
Communications and Public Affairs is primarily responsible for
media relations, public relations, Telefilm’s Web site, corporate
publications and advertising. The Department also helps to
strengthen the industry through the Canada Showcase pro-
gram, which supports some 40 Canadian festivals each year.
The group also works with other cultural agencies and the
industry to promote Canadian talent, including organizing
promotional events such as special screenings in Ottawa.
Within Telefilm, Communications and Public Affairs acts as
strategic communications consultants and coordinates internal
communications activities.

Towards the end of 2003-2004, a comprehensive stake-
holder relations plan was developed to define and establish
more efficient communication channels with three main target
groups: the industry, including international partners; the feder-
al and provincial governments; and the general public through
the media. The plan sets the course with a wide range of com-
munication activities, including direct marketing, “show and
tells” with decision-makers, newsletters, open houses, editorial
board meetings, speaking engagements and a re-branding
campaign.

Human Resources
Telefilm’s ability to meet its objectives relies on the quality of its
human resources. Telefilm supports its operational staff with
legal, economic, communications and policy experts. Of its
approximately 180 employees, a large number are profession-
als with extensive industry experience. Of this highly educated
group (59% have university degrees), 8.6% belong to visible
minorities, while over half of all female employees hold profes-
sional or executive positions. Gender equity at Telefilm is fur-
ther demonstrated by the fact that women represent fully
50% of the Executive Committee.

Telefilm is also committed to providing its services in both
official languages. French is the mother tongue of 60% of the
staff while 40% report English. Fifty-six percent of employees
are bilingual.

Legal Services and Access to Information
The Department is responsible for standardizing letters and
contracts, drafting written opinions and recommendations on
various legal situations, negotiating specific agreements, man-
aging litigious situations, and implementing internal rules of
ethics. The head of Legal Services is also the Corporate
Secretary, reporting to the Chair of the Board of Directors, and
the Access to Information Coordinator.
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Better-Defined Mandates for Senior Management
As part of Telefilm’s restructuring, the missions of the Executive
Committee, Management Committee and Finance and
Administration Committee were clearly defined.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee makes strategic decisions, assigns
responsibilities and allocates internal resources. Its seven
members include the Chair of the Board, the Executive Director
and the Directors of Telefilm’s five main divisions.

Management Committee
The Management Committee engages in annual planning,
monitors the Corporation’s project-related and financial per-
formance, makes administrative decisions and helps circulate
information throughout the organization. This committee
includes the Chair, the Executive Director and all division heads
and regional directors, some 15 members in all.

Finance and Administration Committee
This committee fosters consistent and transparent manage-
ment of Telefilm’s financial, human, material and information-
related resources. It includes the Director of Finance and
Administration, the Controller and representatives from all
other sectors.

E F F E C T I V E  G O V E R N A N C E :  A  B A C K B O N E  
O F  S U C C E S S

With greater demand for services and for stronger accountability,
effective corporate governance is key to maintaining Telefilm’s
credibility and its leadership role in the audiovisual sector.

Acts and Agreements with the Department of 
Canadian Heritage
The Canadian Parliament established the Canadian Film
Development Corporation (CFDC) in 1967 under the
Canadian Film Development Corporation Act to foster and
promote the feature film industry (amended in 2002 as the
Telefilm Canada Act). Over the years, the Department of
Canadian Heritage has expanded the Corporation’s mandate
and increased its financial resources to include television, new
media and music.

Each fund or program assigned to Telefilm is covered by an
agreement between the Corporation and the Department of
Canadian Heritage. These agreements define the mandates
assigned to Telefilm and stipulate the operating rules, the
requirements, and the legal and administrative framework gov-
erning its activities.

As a public agency, Telefilm complies with the Canadian
government’s public policies, the Treasury Board’s rules and
the following Acts: the Financial Administration Act, the
Official Languages Act, the Canadian Multiculturalism Act,
the Employment Equity Act, the Privacy Act and the Access to
Information Act.

Telefilm’s special status as a Crown Corporation affords it
greater managerial autonomy than that enjoyed by government
departments. Its day-to-day operations are carried out at arm’s
length from Ministers and civil servants.

Writer Steve Galluccio and director Émile Gaudreault (Nuit de noces)
created this film about two gay lovers who cannot reveal the true nature
of their friendship to their old-fashioned families. The truth emerges and
the meddling begins – Italian-style!

First a stage play, then a feature film, Mambo Italiano was a box-office 
hit, with more than $5.1 million in revenues – making it the highest-
grossing English-language Canadian film in 20 years. Sold to over 
50 countries, it was a much-loved Canadian export, where it even 
ranked in the U.S. Top 20 alongside Hollywood blockbusters.

Mambo Italiano
Cinémaginaire inc.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S

The Governor in Council appoints Telefilm’s Board, in consulta-
tion with the Minister of Canadian Heritage. It is composed of a
Chair and six members, all generally appointed for five-year
terms. The Board names its Vice-Chair and the members of its
two working groups: the Audit and Finance Committee and the
Cultural Diversity and Linguistic Committee.

Audit and Finance Committee
The objective of the Audit and Finance Committee is to assist
the members of the Board in fulfilling their duty to review and
approve Telefilm’s financial information, reporting systems, inter-
nal control systems, reports by external and internal auditors,
and the scope of internal auditing.

Cultural and Linguistic Diversity Committee
The Cultural and Linguistic Diversity Committee ensures, in the
spirit of the Multiculturalism Act, that Canadian cultural diver-
sity is heard and seen in the audiovisual products Telefilm sup-
ports, and that Canadians have access to works stemming from
the country’s different communities.

The Board works in partnership with management to define
Telefilm’s strategic directions, and to ensure that every effort is
made to achieve the Corporation’s objectives. The Board sees to
it that management practices and information and audit systems
meet the organization’s needs and generate trustworthy results.

Executive Director
The Executive Director is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Corporation, and reports to Telefilm’s Board of Directors.
The Executive Director has overall responsibility for, and exe-
cution of, Telefilm’s strategic directions, activities, resources,
external relations and results, within the framework of the
Telefilm Canada Act. This position is appointed, on recommen-
dation of the Corporation’s Board, by the Governor in Council to
hold office for such term as he/she considers appropriate.

Rules of Ethics and Privacy Protection
Telefilm has a code concerning conflict of interest, in accor-
dance with Treasury Board regulations. This code for Telefilm
employees establishes clear rules of conduct on the subject of
conflict of interest and post-employment. It aims to reduce the
possibility of conflicts between the personal interests and the
official duties of Telefilm employees, and provides the means to
settle such conflicts, in the public interest. Each new employee
is subject to the conflict of interest disclosure requirement, and
it is the responsibility of each employee to review their obliga-
tions at least once a year. The more difficult cases are dis-
cussed with the Office of Public Service Values and Ethics.

As for the Board of Directors, members are named by the
Governor in Council. During their nomination, the Office of the
Ethics Counsellor takes charge of examining the potential con-
flict of interest of members.

New Governance Structure for the Canadian 
Television Fund
In its extensive report on the state of Canada’s broadcast sys-
tem, Our Cultural Sovereignty: The Second Century of
Canadian Broadcasting, the Standing Committee on Canadian
Heritage recommended that the operations and structure of
the CTF be simplified. The government’s response to the
Standing Committee’s report indicated that it will simplify and
clarify the structure of the Fund. Notably, consideration will be
given to a “one board, one administration” model. Telefilm is
supportive of these undertakings and awaits the government’s
decision.

Renewed Mandate for Telefilm Canada
Telefilm’s role continues to evolve in response to technological,
economic, regulatory and social changes. While Telefilm has
adapted well to these, the Corporation’s evolution has not
been reflected in its legislative mandate. The current
Telefilm Canada Act is over 35 years old and several of its pro-
visions require significant modernization.

The government has acknowledged the importance of updat-
ing Telefilm’s Act and has indicated publicly that it will do so.
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R E N E WA L  O F  G O V E R N M E N T  F U N D I N G

In the next few years, the Canada Feature Film Fund, the
Canadian Television Fund, the Canada New Media Fund and
the Music Entrepreneur Program are scheduled to expire or be
evaluated by the federal government. The level of funding com-
mitted to these programs will play a large role in the ability of
Telefilm Canada to implement the objectives and strategies
presented in this annual report.

The Canada Feature Film Fund will be evaluated for renew-
al in 2005-2006. While the Fund’s resources were doubled in
2001, they are still limited given the demand. In order to con-
tinue to encourage performance, diversity and the development
of new talent, the level of financing of the CFFF must take into
account the success of the French-language cinema, the evo-
lution of the industry generally, and the inroads that are begin-
ning to be made in the English-language market.

The Canadian Television Fund will be up for renewal in
2006-2007. Key factors to be considered in the context of this
renewal are expanding media options and intense competition
for Canadian television audiences. From Telefilm’s perspective,
a redoubling of effort is essential to ensure that Canadian tel-
evision productions stand out and are attractive to Canadians
viewers.

The Canada New Media Fund is expected to be renewed in
2005-2006. In a report to the Minister of Canadian Heritage,
the Canadian Culture Online Program National Advisory Board
recommended that funding for new media content creation be
renewed at a significantly higher level. This is a pressing need
for uniquely Canadian interactive media products to compete in
a global and highly competitive environment.

Meet the Bougon family, a clan of lovable rogues. Motley “welfare bums”
who bilk Quebec’s social assistance programs, the Bougons spend all
day scheming in the margins of society. Work ethics need not apply.

In 2003-2004, the series attracted an average weekly audience 
of over 2 million viewers. And with the third season shot this summer, the
irreverent Les Bougon is a runaway success in Quebec.

Les Bougon – C’est aussi ça la vie !
Aetios Productions inc.
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I M P R O V E D  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T

Risk management is central to Telefilm Canada’s business.
Telefilm bases its risk management on a clear mission, precise
and measurable objectives and well-defined responsibilities.
To this end, risk management has been integrated at all levels
of the organization.

Several changes implemented during the 2003-2004 fiscal
year have enabled Telefilm to better manage the various risks
it faces. These improvements included changes to its organiza-
tional structure, which has clarified roles and responsibilities;
the exercise to standardize its business policies and proce-
dures; and the inclusion of risk management as a required
competency for all of Telefilm’s staff.

Following the changes implemented in 2003-2004, the
Corporation asked its internal auditors to review again the work
done to date and to see whatever it had addressed their 
previous concerns. The audit showed that significant improve-
ment was made in areas where the risk of error was deemed
high in the past.

Sector Under Review

Coproductions

Financial Management

Project Evaluation

Contract Management

Information Systems Management

Information Systems Security

Human Resources Planning

Complementary Activities

Purchase Management

Canada New Media Fund

Source: Samson Bélair/Deloitte & Touche internal audit report

Original Risk Assessment

Medium

High

Very High

Medium

High

Medium

Medium

High

Medium

High

Current Risk Assessment

Medium-Low

Medium-Low

Medium-Low

Medium-Low

Medium-Low

Medium-Low

Medium

High

Medium-Low

High

Risk Assessment of Telefilm Canada’s Operations
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F I N A N C I A L  R E V I E W

Financial Resources
Telefilm Canada’s annual budget comes from three sources:

� Parliamentary appropriations: amounts made available to 
Telefilm through Parliament. Parliamentary appropriations 
must be disbursed in the fiscal year in which they are
received; otherwise, they lapse. These amounts represent 
the largest portion of the Corporation’s resources;

� Department contributions: amounts paid to Telefilm 
through the Department of Canadian Heritage by virtue of
contribution agreements. These contributions come from 
the Department budget and must be disbursed in the year
in which they are received. Telefilm receives Department 
contributions for the Canadian Television Fund, the 
Canada New Media Fund, the Music Entrepreneur 
Program and the National Training School Program; and

� Revenues: amounts received by Telefilm in respect of its
operations. Revenues derive mainly from the recovery of 
investments, the repayment of advances and loans, and 
the collection of interest charges and management fees. 
Telefilm has greater latitude in the use of its revenues than 
of its parliamentary appropriations or contributions. 
Telefilm may use its revenues as needed, in accordance 
with its Act and contribution agreements, without refer-
ence to the fiscal year in which they were earned. 
Revenues generated from recoupment on investments are 
reinvested annually in each of the respective programs.

Fund Management
In conformity with its Act, Telefilm accounts for its activities on
the basis of a fiscal year beginning April 1 and ending March 31
of the following year.

This annual report shows how Telefilm applied its two man-
agement methods – cash management and commitment man-
agement – in 2003-2004.

Cash management takes into account disbursements
(amounts disbursed by Telefilm relative to funding applications
or for administrative expenses) and revenues (amounts
received by Telefilm in respect of its operations).

Commitment management pertains to amounts that Telefilm
commits to pay by virtue of contractual agreements related to
funding applications from the industry.

The financial statements reflect the management of cash,
whereas all information relating to the financial analysis of
funds and programs is based on the Corporation’s commit-
ments contractually incurred during the fiscal year.
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The financial statements of Telefilm Canada are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of
Directors of the Corporation. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles and, where appropriate, include estimates based on the experience and judgment of management.
Management is also responsible for all other information in the annual report, and for ensuring that this information is consistent
with the financial statements.

Management maintains books of accounts, financial and management controls, and information systems, together with 
management practices designed to provide reasonable assurance that reliable and relevant information is available on a timely
basis, that assets are safeguarded and controlled, that resources are managed economically and efficiently in the attainment of cor-
porate objectives, and that operations are carried out effectively. These systems and practices are also designed to provide rea-
sonable assurance that transactions are in accordance with Part VIII of the Financial Administration Act, the Telefilm Canada Act,
the by-laws and policies of the Corporation, or with all aspects of the memoranda of understanding and contribution agreements
concluded by the Corporation and the Department of Canadian Heritage.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial reporting as stated
above. The Board exercises its responsibilities through the Audit and Finance Committee, which consists of directors who are not
officers of the Corporation. The Committee reviews the quarterly financial statements, as well as the annual financial statements
and related reports, and may make recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to these and/or related matters. 
In addition, the Committee also meets annually with the external auditor to discuss the audit of the financial statements.

The external auditor, the Auditor General of Canada, conducts an independent examination of the financial statements, and
reports to the Corporation and to the Minister of Canadian Heritage.

Carolle Brabant
Interim Executive Director

Richard Tardif
Controller

Montréal, Canada
June 14, 2004
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TO  T H E  M I N I ST E R  O F  C A N A D I A N  H E R I TA G E

I have audited the balance sheet of Telefilm Canada as at March 31, 2004 and the statements of operations and equity of Canada
and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management.
My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that I plan
and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the over-
all financial statement presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Corporation as at
March 31, 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian gen-
erally accepted accounting principles. As required by the Telefilm Canada Act, I report that, in my opinion, these principles have
been applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

The majority of the Corporation’s expenses shown in the statement of operations and equity of Canada are related to the
development of the television (Canadian Television Fund – Equity Investment Program), new media (Canada New Media Fund)
and music (Music Entrepreneur Program) industries. As described in note 1 of the financial statements, the Corporation’s objects
and powers under the Telefilm Canada Act are limited to fostering and promoting the development of a feature film industry in
Canada. In my opinion, expenses incurred to develop the television, new media and music industries are not consistent with the
Corporation’s legal mandate in the development of the feature film industry.

Further, in my opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Corporation and the financial statements are in agree-
ment therewith and, except for the Corporation’s activities to develop the television, new media and music industries described in
the preceding paragraph, the transactions of the Corporation that have come to my notice during my audit of the financial state-
ments have, in all significant respects, been in accordance with the Telefilm Canada Act and the by-laws of the Corporation.

Nancy Cheng, FCA
Assistant Auditor General
for the Auditor General of Canada

Ottawa, Canada
June 14, 2004

Auditor’s Report
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Balance Sheet  as at March 31, 2004

2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

A S S E T S

Current assets

Receivable from Canada ,00– 8,854

Contributions receivable from the Department of Canadian Heritage 30,664 15,381

Contributions receivable from the Canadian Television Fund – License Fee Program 24,509 26,761

Accounts receivable 7,539 8,450

Prepaid expenses ,604 ,348

Loans (note 3) ,146 1,310

63,462 61,104

Accounts receivable ,243 ,306

Investments ,00– ,109

Loans (note 3) ,00– ,013

Property and equipment (note 4) 9,194 6,714

72,899 68,246

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  E Q U I T Y  O F  C A N A D A

Current liabilities

Payable to Canada 8,551 ,00–

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6,544 6,388

15,095 6,388

Long-term liabilities

Severance benefit obligation (note 9) ,727 ,585

Deferred lease inducements 1,322 1,292

Deferred capital funding (note 5) 9,194 6,714

11,243 8,591

Equity of Canada 46,561 53,267

Commitments (note 10)

Contingencies (note 12)

72,899 68,246

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Approved by the Board: Approved by Management:

Charles Bélanger, Chair Carolle Brabant, Interim Executive Director
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Statement of Operations and Equity of Canada  Year ended March 31, 2004

2004 2003
In thousands of dollars Canadian Canada Feature Canada New Music Entrepreneur Other funds Total Total

Television Fund Film Fund Media Fund Program

Assistance expenses

Production and development
Production 99,216 61,708 5,337 ,00– ,042 166,303 164,848
Development 8,972 5,733 1,564 ,00– ,138 16,407 14,460
Corporate development ,00– ,00– ,00– 8,797 ,00– 8,797 4,355
Low budget independent feature film

assistance ,00– 1,862 ,00– ,00– ,00– 1,862 1,458
Sceenwriting assistance ,00– 1,358 ,00– ,00– ,00– 1,358 1,593
Official coproductions ,00– ,962 ,00– ,00– ,428 1,390 1,547

108,188 71,623 6,901 8,797 ,608 196,117 188,261

Distribution and marketing
Distribution and marketing ,935 13,620 2,155 ,00– ,086 16,796 12,011
Alternative distribution channels ,00– ,945 ,00– ,00– ,00– ,945 1,841

,935 14,565 2,155 ,00– ,086 17,741 13,852

Versioning and subtitling ,920 ,586 ,00– ,00– ,690 2,196 1,269

Complementary activities
Grants to professionnal training schools ,00– ,00– ,00– ,00– 2,320 2,320 2,625
Grants to Canadian festivals ,00– 2,164 ,118 ,00– ,293 2,575 2,619
Industrial and professional development ,00– ,480 ,338 ,00– ,437 1,255 1,675
Participation in foreign markets ,00– ,443 ,188 ,00– ,696 1,327 1,480
Participation in foreign festivals ,00– ,859 ,00– ,00– ,00– ,859 1,111
Advertising, promotion and publications ,00– ,797 ,037 ,00– ,124 ,958 ,,737
Other ,00– ,358 ,00– ,00– ,281 ,639 ,126

,00– 5,101 ,681 ,00– 4,151 9,933 10,373
110,043 91,875 9,737 8,797 5,535 225,987 213,755

Recoveries on investments ( 10,552 ) ( 8,493 ) ( 1,172 ) ,00– ( ,805 ) ( 21,022 ) ( 23,095 )

Direct recovery fees ,379 ,305 ,042 ,00– ,029 ,755 ,703

Net amount 99,870 83,687 8,607 8,797 4,759 205,720 191,363

Operating expenses (note 8) 22,857 21,614

Cost of operations for the year 228,577 212,977

Revenues

Contributions from the Canadian Television Fund – License Fee Program (note 7) ( 24,509 ) ( 26,761 )
Investment revenues ( ,331 ) ( ,422 )
Interest and management fees ( ,110 ) ( ,487 )

( 24,950 ) ( 27,670 )

Net cost of operations for the year before government assistance 203,627 185,307

Government assistance

Parliamentary appropriation for operations 123,419 134,953
Contributions from the Department of Canadian Heritage (note 6) 71,541 63,262
Amortization of deferred capital funding (note 5) 1,961 1,498

196,921 199,713

Net result from operations ( 6,706 ) 14,406

Equity of Canada at the beginning 53,267 38,861

Equity of Canada at the end 46,561 53,267

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows  Year ended March 31, 2004

Operating activities

Net result from operations ( 6,706 ) 14,406

Items not affecting cash:

Increase (decrease) in the allowance for loan impairment ,313 (,162 )

Conversion of loans not previously provisionned ,003 ,168

Write-off of loans not previously provisionned ,209 ,110

Amortization of property and equipment 1,941 1,359

Loss on disposal and write-offs of property and equipment ,019 ,134

Increase (decrease) in the severance benefit obligation ,142 ,(,16 )

Increase in deferred lease inducements ,030 ,061

Amortization of deferred capital funding ( 1,961 ) ( 1,498 )

( 6,010 ) 14,562

Changes in non-cash working capital items:

Decrease (increase) in contributions receivable from the ( 15,283 ) 21,802

Department of Canadian Heritage

Decrease (increase) in contributions receivable from the 2,252 ( 18,313 )

Canadian Television Fund – License Fee Program

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable ,911 (,176 )

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses ( ,256 ) ,615

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities ,156 (,374 )

Decrease in long-term accounts receivable ,063 ,103

( 18,167 ) 18,219

Financing activities

Parliamentary appropriation for capital funding 4,441 2,548

Investing activities

Loans ,( 37 ) (,118 )

Repayments of loans ,689 ,931

Repayments of long-term investments ,109 ,00–

Acquisition of property and equipment ( 4,441 ) ( 2,548 )

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment ,001 ,005

( 3,679 ) ( 1,730 )

Increase (decrease) in liquidity ( 17,405 ) 19,037

Receivable from (payable to) Canada at the beginning 8,854 ( 10,183 )

Receivable from (payable to) Canada at the end ( 8,551 ) 8,854

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars
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1 .  A U T H O R I T Y  A N D  A C T I V I T I E S

The Corporation was established in 1967 by the Telefilm Canada Act (previously the Canadian Film Development Corporation Act)
with the objective of fostering and promoting the development of a feature film industry in Canada. The Corporation has since
been charged with the administration of the Canadian Broadcast Program Development Fund (Television Fund) established in
1983, within the framework of the Broadcasting Strategy for Canada, as well as with the management of various new programs
established under the National Film and Video Policy of May 1984, and the Canadian Feature Film policy of October 2000.
The Act was amended in June 1994 to grant the Corporation the authority to guarantee loans.

In September 1996, the Minister of Canadian Heritage created the Canadian Television Fund (CTF). Created to foster a part-
nership between the government and the industry, this new fund brings together the Corporation’s television fund and the
Cable Production Fund. Two financial assistance programs constitute the CTF: the Equity Investment Program and the License
Fee Program. The Corporation was given responsibility for the management of the Equity Investment Program.

The Corporation was given responsibility for the administration of the funding program in support of pre-professional develop-
ment in 1997, the management of the Canada New Media Fund in 1998 and the Music Entrepreneur Program in 2002.

Since 1983 the Corporation has diversified its activities by means of memoranda of understanding and contribution agreements
with the Department of Canadian Heritage, resulting in expanded influence beyond its primary mission. The Corporation and the
Department of Canadian Heritage have undertaken an in-depth review of the Telefilm Canada Act, in order to ensure that it reflects
the current diversity of Telefilm’s activities and responds to the needs of the audiovisual industry.

The Corporation is a Crown Corporation subject inter alias to the provisions of Part VIII of the Financial Administration Act as
it read before its repeal in 1984, and as if it continued to be named in Schedule C of the Act.

2 .  S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

a) Financing sources of the Corporation

The Corporation obtains its funds mainly from the Government of Canada by means of the parliamentary appropriation and the
contributions from the Department of Canadian Heritage. The portion of the parliamentary appropriation, used to finance the
acquisition of depreciable property and equipment, is recorded as deferred capital funding on the balance sheet and amortized
on the same basis as the related property and equipment. The other portion of the parliamentary appropriation and the contribu-
tions from the Department of Canadian Heritage are recorded on the Statement of Operations and Equity of Canada up to allow-
able incurred expenditures.

b) Amount payable to Canada or receivable from Canada

The financial operations of the Corporation are processed through the Consolidated Revenue Fund of Canada, thus the absence
of bank accounts. For the purposes of the financial statements, the result of financial operations appears on the balance sheet
as an amount payable to Canada or receivable from Canada.

Notes to Financial Statements  Year ended March 31, 2004



2 .  S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S  ( C O N T I N U E D )

c) Assistance expenses

Assistance expenses include all forms of assistance granted to activities related to the feature film industry, Canadian television
programming, new media and music. Assistance expenses are accounted for as follows:

� Investments granted in return for a share in operating revenues, other than those accompanied by pre-established obligations
to reimburse, as well as non-recoverable investments, are charged to operations in the year in which the funds are paid or
have become payable.

� Recoveries on investments are recorded for the operations in the year in which the funds are received or have become
receivable. Any proceeds in excess of the related investment are recorded as investment revenues.

d) Loans and allowance for losses

The Corporation grants loans for the financing of Canadian programming, feature films and new media. Loans initially granted at
zero percent interest rate are recorded at the nominal amount of the loan. Loans bearing interest are shown on the balance sheet
at the principal amount increased by accrued interest receivable. Loans are shown net of an allowance for losses.

A loan is considered impaired as a result of deterioration in credit quality to the extent that the Corporation no longer has rea-
sonable assurance that the full amount of principal and interest will be collected in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement.

The allowance for losses includes specific and general allowances.

Specific allowances are established for each impaired loan. The evaluation is based on the receivables taken as security and
the borrower’s financial situation. The carrying amount of an impaired loan is reduced to its estimated realizable value by dis-
counting the expected future cash flows at the effective interest rate inherent in the loan.

The general allowance represents the best estimate of probable impairment attributable to the deterioration of credit quality
in the remaining portfolio for which specific allowances cannot yet be determined. The amount is estimated based on previous
losses and management’s assessment of trends in the credit quality of the loan portfolio.

Loans are written off after all reasonable restructuring or collection activities have taken place and the possibility of further
recovery is unlikely. Write-offs and allowance for losses are charged to operations as assistance expenses.

e) Interest revenue

Interest on loans is recorded as income on an accrual basis except for loans that are considered impaired. When a loan becomes
impaired, recognition of interest in accordance with the terms of the original loan agreement ceases.

Other interest revenue is recognized on an accrual basis and represents the amounts charged on all amounts, other than loans,
due to the Corporation, less an allowance for losses. This allowance for losses is determined by examining each amount.

f) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided using the following methods and annual rates:
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Asset Basis Rate

Software Straight-line 5 years
Leasehold improvements Straight-line Terms of the leases
Furniture and equipment Diminishing balance 20%
Computer installations Diminishing balance 20%

Assets related to work in progress are not subject to amortization.



2 .  S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S  ( C O N T I N U E D )

g) Employee future benefits

Pension plan
Employees participate in the Public Service Superannuation Plan administered by the Government of Canada. The Corporation’s
contribution to the plan reflects the full cost of the employer contributions. This amount is currently based on a multiple of the
employees’ required contributions, and may change from time to time depending on the experience of the Plan. These contribu-
tions represent the total pension obligations of the Corporation and are charged to operations on a current basis. The Corporation
is not currently required to make contributions with respect to actuarial deficiencies of the Public Service Superannuation Account.

Severance benefits
Employees are entitled to severance benefits as provided for under conditions of employment. The cost of these benefits is
accrued as the employees render the services necessary to earn them. Management determined the severance benefit obliga-
tion based upon assumptions and its best estimates. These benefits represent the only obligation of the Corporation that entails
settlement by future payment.

h) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of financial state-
ments, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The allowance for losses on impaired
loans and bad debts, severance benefit obligation and contingencies are the most significant items where estimates are used.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3 .  L O A N S  A N D  A L L O WA N C E  F O R  L O S S E S

Loans with a carrying value of $1,195,865 ($1,456,221 in 2003) granted for production and marketing projects in the
Multimedia Fund are interest-free loans. Generally these loans are repayable in twelve consecutive equal monthly instalments
beginning twelve to twenty-four months after the agreed completion date of the project. For other loans, interest charged does
not exceed the prime rate plus 2 percent. The loans have a term generally not exceeding three years.

The loans are detailed as follows:

The allowance for losses is detailed as follows:

Telefilm Canada
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In thousands of dollars 2004 2003
Amount Allowance for losses Net amount Net amount

Loans ,146 ,00– ,146 1,323

Impaired loans 1,338 1,338 ,00– ,00–

1,484 1,338 ,146 1,323

Less current portion 1,484 1,338 ,146 1,310

Long-term portion ,00– ,00– ,00– ,013

2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

Balance at beginning 1,057 2,149

Conversion of loans 0(, 32 ) (, 559 )

Write-offs ,00– (, 371 )

Recoveries 0(, 87 ) ,00–

Allowance ,400 (, 162 )

Balance at end 1,338 1,057



4 .  P R O P E R T Y  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T

5 .  D E F E R R E D  C A P I TA L  F U N D I N G

The amount presented on the balance sheet is as follows:

6 .  C O N T R I B U T I O N S  F R O M  T H E  D E PA R T M E N T  O F  C A N A D I A N  H E R I TA G E

The contributions from the Department of Canadian Heritage are as follows:

7.  C O N T R I B U T I O N S  F R O M  T H E  C A N A D I A N  T E L E V I S I O N  F U N D  –  L I C E N S E  F E E  P R O G R A M

In the course of the fiscal year, the Canadian Television Fund – License Fee Program contributed $24,509,000 ($26,761,000 in
2003) to the Corporation for the financing of Canadian television programming.

2003-2004 Annual Report

65

Financial Statements

In thousands of dollars 2004 2003
Cost Accumulated Amortization Net value Net value

Software 9,823 3,338 6,485 4,906

Leasehold improvements 2,575 ,626 1,949 1,550

Furniture and equipment 1,071 ,652 ,419 ,117

Computer installations ,217 ,113 ,104 ,141

Work in progress ,237 ,00– ,237 ,00–

13,923 4,729 9,194 6,714

2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

Balance at beginning 6,714 5,664

Parliamentary appropriation for capital funding 4,441 2,548

Amortization of deferred capital funding ( 1,961 ) ( 1,498 )

Balance at end 9,194 6,714

2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

Canadian Television Fund – Equity Investment Program 49,775 47,275

Canada New Media Fund 9,656 7,452

Music Entrepreneur Program 9,560 5,740

Professionnal training schools 2,550 2,795

71,541 63,262



8 .  O P E R AT I N G  E X P E N S E S

9 .  E M P L OY E E  F U T U R E  B E N E F I T S

Pension plan
During the year the Public Service Superannuation Plan (PSSA) required the Corporation to contribute to the PSSA at a rate of
2.14 times the employees’ contributions. Since January 2004, if an employee’s annual salary is greater than eligible benefits of
$105,900 ($100,100 in 2003), the portion of the employee’s salary above this amount is subject to an employer’s contribution of
7.9 times employee’s contribution (15 times in 2003). Contributions during the year were as follows:

Severance benefit obligation
The Corporation provides severance benefits to its employees according to a severance benefit plan. This plan is not pre-funded
and thus has no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to the severance benefit obligation. Information related to the severance
benefit obligation is as follows:

Telefilm Canada
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2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

Salaries and employees benefits 13,800 11,986

Office expenses 1,868 2,010

Professional services 1,813 2,609

Rent, taxes, heating and electricity 1,537 1,527

Amortization 1,941 1,359

Travel ,894 ,980

Advertising and publications ,412 ,422

Telecommunications ,351 ,296

Relocation ,172 ,238

Hospitality ,050 ,053

Loss on disposal and write-offs of property and equipment ,019 ,134

Total 22,857 21,614

2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

Corporation 1,511 1,324

Employees ,586 ,493

2004 2003
In thousands of dollars In thousands of dollars

Balance at beginning ,685 ,854

Expense for the year ,263 ,114

Benefits paid during the year (,121 ) (, 283 )

Balance at end ,827 ,685

Short-term portion (included in accounts payable) ,100 ,100

Long-term portion ,727 ,585

,827 ,685



1 0 .  C O M M I T M E N T S

a) Projects

The Corporation is committed contractually to advance funds as investments:

According to the Canada Feature Film Fund production assistance program based on performance, the Corporation has
reserved a total of $1,875,868 to finance projects to be submitted. These projects will need to comply with all the conditions of
the agreements.

In addition, the Corporation has accepted to finance projects that may require disbursements totalling $2,864,650.

b) Leases

The Corporation has entered into long-term leases for the rental of office space and equipment used in its operations. The aggre-
gate minimum annual rentals payable during subsequent years are as follows:

1 1 .  R E L AT E D  PA R T Y  T R A N S A C T I O N S

The Corporation is related in terms of common ownership to all Government of Canada created departments, agencies and 
Crown Corporations. The Corporation enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of business. The transac-
tions are recorded at exchange value.
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Total
In thousands of dollars

Canadian Television Fund – Equity Investment Program 34,254

Canada Feature Film Fund 25,927

Music Entrepreneur Program 5,561

Canada New Media Fund 4,241

Other funds ,727

Total 70,710

Total
In thousands of dollars

2005 1,849

2006 1,594

2007 1,519

2008 1,381

2009 1,397

2010 – 2015 6,629

Total 14,369



1 2 .  C O N T I N G E N C I E S

The Corporation guarantees the reimbursement of loans or debts incurred by third parties with financial institutions within the loan
guarantee program. The total amount of the Corporation’s guarantees cannot exceed, at any time, $25,000,000. The interest rate
cannot exceed the lending institutions’ prime rate plus 2 percent, and eligible security must be obtained from the borrower.
The guarantees as at March 31, 2004 totalled $644,482 ($644,482 in 2003). A provision for losses is recorded when
management can estimate that a loss is likely to occur. Management estimates that no provision in this regard is required as at
March 31, 2004.

In the normal course of business, various claims and lawsuits have been brought against the Corporation. Management is in
no position to predict the issue of these lawsuits and the potential losses cannot reasonably be estimated. Thus, no provision was
taken in this regard in the Corporation’s accounts.

1 3 .  FA I R  VA L U E  O F  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S

The carrying amounts reported for accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value
due to the relatively short periods to maturity of the instruments.

The following table represents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Corporation’s other financial instruments:

The fair values of loans have been established by discounting the future contractual cash flows under current loan arrange-
ments, at discount rates equal to the prevailing market rate of interest for financial instruments having substantially the same
terms and characteristics.

1 4 .  C O M PA R AT I V E  F I G U R E S

Some of the 2003 figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted for 2004.
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In thousands of dollars 2004 2003
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Short-term loans ,146 ,137 1,310 1,288

Long-term loans ,00– ,00– ,013 ,012

Long-term accounts receivable ,243 ,204 ,306 ,251
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